From DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE, HUDDINGE, H7 Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

OPTIMIZATION OF TB/HIV CO-TREATMENT IN ETHIOPIAN PATIENTS

Wondwossen Amogne Degu



Stockholm 2015

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by **E-Print AB, 2015** © **Wondwossen Amogne Degu**, 2015 ISBN 978-91-7676-096-3

OPTIMIZATION OF TB/HIV CO-TREATMENT IN ETHIOPIAN PATIENTS

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

Wondwossen Amogne Degu

Principal Supervisor: Professor Lars Lindquist Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine, Huddinge, H7 Division of Infectious Diseases

Co-supervisor(s): Professor Anders Sönnerborg Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Huddinge and Department of Laboratory Medicine Division of Infectious Diseases and Division of Clinical Microbiology

Associate professor Eleni Aklillu Karolinska Institutet Department of Laboratory of Medicine Division of Clinical Pharmacology *Opponent:* Professor Rune Andersson University of Gothenburg Department of Infectious Medicine Institute Biomedicine Sahlgrenska Academy

Examination Board: Professor Jorma Hinkula Lindköping University Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine Division of Microbiology and Molecular Medicine

Professor Anna Mia Ekström Karolinska Institutet Department of Department of Public Health Sciences

Associate professor Carl Johan Treutiger Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Science and Education, Södersjukhuset Division of Infectious disease Södersjukhuset and Center for Infectious Medicine, Huddinge

This thesis work is first and foremost dedicated to my most loving family: Wzo Seble Deneke (my dear wife), Amanuel, Kaleb and Dawit Wondwossen (my three sons), for inspiring me, to their continued support as well as prayers. I sincerely thank my lovely queen who is my most beloved wife and my three handsome princes who are my kids for the unconditional love you provided me, teaching me endurance and sacrificing your time as well as interests for my tireless academic interests. May God bless you all in his abundant grace and keep the family's unity always safe.

It is also dedicated to the living memory of my sister and brother, Wzo Tiruwork Amogne (Yeshum as I call you) and Ato Tewodros Amogne (Gezye as I call you). Both died at their productive age from tragic car accidents but their memory keeps on actively surviving inside me.

Abstract

Tuberculosis (TB) and HIV infection act with deadly synergy. HIV is the most important risk factor for latent TB reactivation and active TB progression following exposure or reinfection while TB accelerates HIV progression. TB is the most frequent cause of morbidity and mortality in HIV infection. Anti-TB therapy (ATT) must precede initiation of combination Antiretroviral Therapy (cART), TB being the most immediate threat. Undoubtedly cART benefits; however, important clinical challenges emerge when cART is initiated during TB therapy. Optimization TB and HIV cotreatment is therefore required. Paper II: We hypothesized that by initiating efavirenz (EFV)-based cART earlier than the second week of ATT in patients with CD4 counts < 200 cells/ μ L; overall survival can be improved at 48 weeks. The study hypothesis was tested with randomized, open-label, clinical trial comparing efficacy and safety of EFV-based cART one week, four weeks and eight weeks after ATT in coinfected patients with baseline CD4 count < 200 cells/µL. The results showed that cART one week after TB therapy doesn't improve overall survival at 48 weeks. All-cause mortality in subgroups with CD4 count below 50 cells/µL versus above was lowest in week one. However, compared with week four and eight, first line ATT interruption from severe Drug-Induced Liver Injury (DILI) was highest in week one deaths (P=0.03) and in the CD4 subgroup < 50 cells/ μ L (P=0.02). The key question for CD4 category < 50 cells/µL is striking the optimal balance between the potential survival benefits if cART is initiated one week after TB therapy as opposed to the increased morbidity and mortality due DILI and risk of ATT interruption. to Paper I and IV: We investigated DILI during TB/HIV cotreatment and HIV-treatment with EFV-based cART. DILI is the most important treatment limiting factor for continuation of both ATT and/or cART. Multiple evidences show that TB/HIV coinfected patients experience higher rate of adverse drug reactions than those without HIV. Both are prospective cohort studies and analysis was made with multivariate Cox regression model. Outcome measures were incidence rates for DILI, ATT and/or cART interruptions as well as assessment of risk factors. Paper I on EFV-based cART in HIV-infected patients with baseline CD4 counts < 200 cells/µL revealed high plasma EFV levels and CYP 2B6*6 genetic polymorphism predict DILI events in addition to baseline transaminitis, low CD4 count, low serum albumin and platelet values. Paper IV specifically addressed severe form of DILI during TB/HIV cotreatment compared with only TB treatment in HIV-negative patients as well as EFV-based cART in HIV-infected patients with baseline CD4 counts < 200 cells/µL inclusive of isoniazid preventive therapy. The findings from this study are: severe DILI risk is increased several folds with TB/HIV coinfection whereas concurrent

cART timing doesn't alter the risk. Incidence rate of ATT interruption is higher with CD4 < 50 cells/µL. Independent risk factors for severe DILI in addition to TB/HIV coinfection were abnormal alanine aminotransferase and bilirubin values at baseline, CD4 < 50 cells/µL and positive HCV antibody result. In summary, the result concur earlier initiation of EFV-based cART during TB/HIV coinfection, though DILI remains as the most important challenge. It is more related to ATT than EFV-based cART and not affected by the timing of EFV-based cART within the first 8 weeks of TB therapy. **Paper III** evaluated Ethiopian HIV-1 subtype C virus (HIV-1CET) at near full length genome level for phylogenetic analysis, genotypic drug resistance and viral tropism. The results showed high diversity among HIV-1CET strains compared to other geographical locations suggesting introduction of HIV-1C in the country occurred in early phase of HIV-1C epidemic. Primary drug resistant mutations were identified in < 5% of the cases and 95% of the viral strains had R-5 tropism.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

The thesis is based upon the following studies, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals:

- I. G Yimer, W Amogne, A Habtewold, E Makonnen, N Ueda1, A Suda, A Worku, WE Haefeli, J Burhenne, G Aderaye, L Lindquist and E Aklillu. High plasma efavirenz level and CYP2B6*6 are associated with efavirenz-based HAARTinduced liver injury in the treatment of nai ve HIV patients from Ethiopia: a prospective cohort study. The Pharmacogenomics Journal (2011), 1–8.
- II. Wondwossen Amogne, Getachew Aderaye, Abiy Habtewold, Getnet Yimer, Eyasu Makonnen, Alemayhu Worku, Anders Sonnerborg, Eleni Aklillu, Lars Lindquist. Efficacy and Safety of Antiretroviral Therapy Initiated One Week after Tuberculosis Therapy in Patients with CD4 Counts < 200 Cells/μL: TB-HAART Study, a Randomized Clinical Trial. PLOS ONE | DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0122587 May 12, 2015.</p>
- III. Wondwossen Amogne, Irene Bontell, Sebastian Grossmann, Getachew Aderaye, Lars Lindquist, Anders Sönnerborg, Ujjwal Neogi. Phylogenetic analysis of near full-length genome reveals high intra-HIV-1 subtype C diversity but a strong geographical cluster in Ethiopia abstain in subgenomic region. In manuscript.
- IV. Wondwossen Amogne, Getachew Aderaye, Eleni Aklillu, Abiy Habtewold, Getnet Yimer, Eyasu Makonnen, Alemayhu Worku, Anders Sonnerborg, Lars Lindquist. Evaluation of severe antituberculosis Drug-Induced Liver Injury, the effect of concurrent antiretroviral therapy timing and Hy's Law in Tuberculosis and HIV coinfected patients: A Prospective cohort study. In manuscript.

CONTENTS

List of Abbreviations

1. Introduction to the thesis 1 2. Background 3				
2.1.1. Epidemiology of the co-epidemic: Global and Local	3			
2.1.2. Interactions between HIV, tuberculosis and cART	4			
2.1.2.1. Effect of HIV on TB				
2.1.2.2. Effect of TB on HIV				
2.1.2.3. Effect of cART on TB				
2.1.3. Clinical aspects of TB in HIV-infected adults	6			
2.1.4. Management of TB/HIV coinfection	8			
2.1.4.1. General principles				
2.1.4.2. Challenges				
8				
3. Optimization of TB and HIV co-treatment	9			
3.1. Duration of TB treatment in TB/HIV coinfection	10			
3.2. The optimal timing of cART in HIV-infected adults with TB	10			
3.3. Overlapping drug toxicities	11			
3.3.1. Efavirenz-based therapy induced liver injury	12			
3.3.2. First-line TB drugs induced liver injury in TB/HIV coinfection	12			
3.4. Drug interactions in the treatment of HIV-related tuberculosis.	12			
3.5. TB associated immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (TB-IRIS)	13			
4. HIV infection	. 14			
4.1. HIV-virology				
4.2. HIV-1 subtype C in Ethiopia (HIV-1C _{ET})	14			
5. Rationale of the thesis	17			
6. Study objectives	18			
6.1. General objectives	18			
6.2. Specific objectives	18			
7. Material and methods	20			
7.1. Study design	20			
7.2. Ethical considerations	20			
7.3. Settings and subjects	20			
7.4. Interventions	21			

8. Results	23	
8.1. Study I	23	
8.2. Study II	24	
8.3. Study III	25	
8.4. Study IV	25	
9. Discussion	27	
9.1. Overall findings	27	
9.2. Study I	27	
9.3. Study II	28	
9.4. Study III	29	
9.5. Study IV	29	
10. Conclusions	30	
11. Recommendations	31	
12. Acknowledgements		
13. References		

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

TB	tuberculosis
cART	combination antiretroviral therapy
ATT	Antituberculosis therapy
DILI	Drug-Induced Liver Injury
EFV	efavirenz
TB-IRIS	Tuberculosis associated immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome
WHO	World Health Organization
MDR-TB	multidrug resistant tuberculosis
ALT	alaninie aminotransferase
AST	aspartate aminotransferase
ALP	alkaline phosphatase
$HIV-1C_{ET}$	HIV subtype C (Ethiopian strain)
IPT	isoniazid preventive therapy
РТВ	pulmonary tuberculosis
SP-PTB	smear-positive pulmonary tuberculosis
SN-PTB	smear-negative pulmonary tuberculosis
EPTB	extra pulmonary tuberculosis
ULN	upper limit of normal
RH	rifampicin and isoniazid
RHZE	rifampicin, isoniazid, pyrazinamide and ethambutol
OIs	opportunistic infections
HAART	highly active antiretroviral therapy
aHR	adjusted hazard ratio
SD	standard deviation
IQR	interquartile range
NFLG	near full length genome
GRT	genotypic resistance testing
GTT	genotypic tropism testing

PLHIV	people living with HIV
ADI	AIDS defining illness
RIF	rifampicin
CNS	central nervous system
DOT	directly observed therapy
NNRTIs	nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors
NVP	nevirapine
MAC	mycobacterium avium complex
LMICs	low and middle-income countries

1. INTRODUCTION TO THE THESIS

This thesis focuses on tuberculosis (TB) and HIV coinfection in a high TB and HIV prevalent setting. Globally TB and HIV are the leading causes of death from infectious diseases. Each one is deadly and their intersection is deadlier. TB is the most frequent cause of morbidity and mortality in HIV-infected patients. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) in 2013, an estimated 9 million people developed TB worldwide and 1.1 million had HIV co-infection of whom 30% died. According to this report, Ethiopia ranks 8th from the 22 of the high TB burden countries. In addition, is one of the high TB/HIV and MDR-TB burden countries.

TB and HIV cotreatment has potential benefits and risks. The optimal timing for combination antiretroviral therapy (cART) undoubtedly needs further definition. Guidelines in general recommend initiation of cART as early as the second week of antituberculosis therapy (ATT) and earlier than two weeks when the CD4 count is < 50 cells/ μ L. Nevertheless the evidences for earlier initiation are strong only for CD4 < 50 cells/ μ L. The optimal time for cART initiation is a function of the interaction between efficacy and safety parameters as well as the level of immunosuppression. The clinical trial in this thesis assessed different cART timings within the first two months of ATT with respect to measurable endpoints after 48 weeks of enrollment.

HIV-1 virus subtype C_{ET} dominates the Ethiopian HIV-epidemic accounting for 99% of viral subtype in circulation unlike other neighboring countries. This is based on earlier studies using smaller gene fragments. We have characterized the virus at full-length genome level for phylogenetic analysis, baseline genotypic resistance testing and assess its tropism.

In the back ground section of this thesis, the current knowledge of TB/HIV coinfection and the Ethiopian HIV-1 subtype C virus are described. Synopses of the known and unknown facts about the TB/HIV coinfection, evidence-based review for the need of optimizing TB and HIV cotreatment and drug induced liver injury (efavirenz–based and ATT-induced) are discussed. Previous studies about the HIV-1CET viral strain are reviewed. The study rational including the objectives for the various studies is explained. The study methods are described in detail, the results discussed and last recommendations are made.



Tikur Anbessa (Black Lion) Hospital in Addis Ababa, the main collaborating Medical Center for this thesis

2. BACKGROUND

2.1. Tuberculosis and HIV coinfection

Tuberculosis (TB) and HIV are the two most deadly communicable diseases worldwide. In high income countries, all forms of TB are regarded AIDS-defining illness (ADI) while the World Health Organization (WHO) clinical staging differentiates pulmonary TB (stage 3) from extrapulmonary TB (WHO clinical stage 4 or equivalent of AIDS) [1]. Tuberculosis and HIV (TB/HIV) coinfection is the most frequent cause of morbidity and mortality in people living with HIV (PLHIV) [2,3]. In this thesis unless stated, "tuberculosis" refers to the active disease rather than latent form of infection. The global HIV associated TB mortality had its peak in 2004 around 540,000 deaths. It declined to 360,000 in 2013, equivalent to 25% of all TB deaths (HIV-infected and uninfected) and a quarter of an estimated 1.5 million of HIV-associated deaths in the same year[4]. Treatment with combination Antiretroviral Therapy (cART) and TB/HIV collaborative activities are possible explanations for this steady decline of mortality starting from 2004. In the world there were approximately 35 million PLHIV and 9 million new TB incident cases by the end of 2013; 70% of them were living in the sub-Saharan Africa[4]. The toll of TB/HIV pandemic has been in sub-Saharan Africa where there are high incidence rates of active TB and HIV infection per capita. The two infections killed almost 3 million people altogether by the end of 2013 [4]. The risk of developing tuberculosis among PLHIV is 30 times higher compared with HIV-uninfected [4]. For the aforementioned reasons, it is not surprising that TB/HIV coinfection becomes major public health problem in sub-Saharan Africa. Unlike other opportunistic infections active TB occurs at any CD4 count whereas the current CD4 count of an individual determines the incidence and clinical presentations of the disease. Furthermore, the interaction between risk of developing TB and the CD4 count is reciprocal. The risk of TB increases as CD4 cell count decreases [5,6]. Likewise, the mortality rate associated with TB is high in persons with the low CD4 counts [7]. TB case fatality ratios (CFR) in African and Asian patients not receiving cART or whom it was deferred for 8 weeks ranges from 16-35% [8,9,10] whereas without cART up to 50% of PLHIV who are diagnosed with TB die during the first 6-8 months of TB treatment[11,12,13].

2.1.1. Epidemiology of tuberculosis and HIV epidemics

Globally, one-third of HIV-infected persons are estimated to have concomitant (usually latent) infection with M. tuberculosis [14]. Thirteen percent of the 9.0 million people who developed TB in 2013 worldwide were HIV-positive. Sub-Saharan Africa, epicenter of the TB/HIV coepidemic, hosts 80% of the estimated TB/HIV coinfected cases [4]. The

prevalence of HIV coinfection among TB patients is highest in the African region. Of the 1.1 million TB patients tested for HIV within 44 countries, 41% tested positive in 2013.

Among the high TB/HIV burden countries, this ranged from 7% in Mali to 74% in Lesotho and Swaziland [4]. The presence of HIV makes one more vulnerable to develop active TB, and having TB in turn accelerates HIV disease progression. The HIV epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa is driving the global TB burden whereas the incidence of TB remained stable or declining in other regions. At present one of four deaths from TB is HIV related[4]. These annual incidence rates are extremely high compared to the estimated 10% lifetime risk of active TB following latent TB in people without HIV coinfection. The risk of active disease in HIV-uninfected is estimated to be approximately 5% in the 18 months after initial infection and then approximately 5% for the remaining life time[15] but in those infected the risk for active disease (localized or disseminated) rises to approximately 8-10% per annum[16]. Among HIV-infected individuals, the risk of acquiring TB is 9 to 16 times that of HIV-uninfected [17,18]. Annual incidence rates of about 10% were described in HIV-infected patients in South Africa[6]. Autopsy studies in PLHIV without TB diagnosis revealed high rates of TB (21%-52%), even after receiving cART for up to 10 months. Almost half of this disease remains undiagnosed at the time of death [19].

Ethiopia ranks among the top ten of 22 high TB burden countries 4]. The annual TB incidence rate in high burden countries is 100 cases per 100,000 populations or more. Eighty percent of all estimated TB cases in the world reside in these countries. Furthermore, Ethiopia is one of the high TB/HIV and MDR TB burden countries. The prevalence and incidence of all forms of TB (includes HIV-positive) are 211 and 224 per 100,000 populations, respectively [4]. Tuberculosis remains one of the leading causes of mortality. Excluding HIV related deaths; in 2013 TB mortality was estimated to be 32 per 100,000 of the population. About 13% of all new TB cases are also HIV coinfected [4]. Mortality rate because of HIV associated tuberculosis is estimated to be 5.9 per 100,000 populations. Among TB patients with known HIV status, about 11% are HIV co-infected [4]. According to the national surveillance, 1.6% of new TB cases (95% CI 0.9-2.8) and 12% of previously treated TB cases (95% CI 5.6-21) were estimated to be MDR TB cases [4].

2.1.2. Interactions between HIV, TB and cART

2.1.2.1. Effect of HIV on TB

Tuberculosis risk increases after HIV acquisition, doubling within the first year due to rapid depletion of TB-specific T-helper cells. This occurs soon after HIV infection [20,21].

Subsequently, the risk of active TB disease progressively increases with declining immunity [5,6]. In contrary to the previous considerations, immune activation and dysregulation occurs soon after HIV infection and it will be profound. Immediately after HIV is acquired, generalized immunosuppression occurs. It will be marked with diminished responsiveness to previously encountered antigens [22,23]. This T-helper cell dysfunction is qualitative disorder and does not correlate with the absolute CD4 cell counts. It could last for several months [23]. It is a possible explanation to allow early progression to TB disease after infection with HIV. HIV-infection increases the risk of reactivating latent M. tuberculosis infection, placing HIV-positive persons at increased risk for developing TB[24]. HIV infection also increases the risk of rapid TB progression after primary M. tuberculosis acquisition or reinfection. HIV-infected patients have an increased risk of recurrent TB after successful therapy, usually due to exogenous reinfection [25]. A systematic review of 32 studies and studies from Brazil, South Africa and the USA confirmed that TB/HIV coinfected patients are at an increased risk of recurrent disease, especially those with low CD4 counts [26]. Consistent with an earlier study, molecular epidemiologic data from South African goldmines suggested that exogenous reinfection accounts for approximately two-thirds of recurrent disease [27]. This contrasts with data from low-TB burden setting in the USA where the relapse rate among HIV-infected patients was substantially reduced by increased duration of TB treatment, suggesting the importance of relapse in this setting[28]. In summary HIV increases risk of active TB by accelerated progression of TB following acquisition or reinfection, reactivation of latent infection and increased recurrence even after successful treatment [16,29,30].

2.1.2.2. Effect of TB on HIV

TB may accelerate the progression of HIV disease via immune activation and is associated with a higher mortality rate and shorter survival in HIV-positive persons [31]. TB hastens HIV progression risk to AIDS and mortality risk markedly increases despite ATT [32,33]. Plasma HIV RNA level significantly increases when TB intersects [34]. As it is true with other opportunistic infections, HIV RNA level usually drops after initiation of successful TB treatment [35]. However, for unknown reasons some patients from Ethiopia persistently had high HIV RNA levels in spite of effective ATT [36, 37]. Effective TB therapy leads to reduction in T-cell activation markers and stabilization of CD4 cell counts [38]. Generalized immune activation, due to TB infection, may increase the proportion of CD4 cells that are preferential targets for HIV. Increased expression of the HIV coreceptors CCR5 and CXCR4 occurs in HIV infected patients with TB coinfection [39]. This might lead to enhanced viral replication. Major drug-drug interactions, particularly associated with rifampicin, complicate the management of TB/HIV coinfection when cART is started. Rifampicin is the cornerstone of anti-tuberculosis therapy (ATT) in TB endemic settings and an important component of first-line TB treatment. Rifampicin vigorously induces the cytochrome P450 3A (CYP 3A) enzyme system resulting in markedly lower concentrations

of cART drugs metabolized through this pathway. Conversely, isoniazid also part of firstline ATT, is competitive inhibitor that specifically targets enzymes CYP2C19 and CYP 3A. Efavirenz (EFV) is the preferred non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI) component of the first-line cART regimen according to the WHO guideline particularly during TB/HIV coinfection. Metabolism of EFV entails 8-hydroxylation by CYP 2B6 with subsequent glucuronidation. It is also known to induce CYP3A4 as well as its own metabolism. If EFV plasma concentrations are decreased due to interaction with enzyme inducers, this may increase the potential for therapeutic failure and the development of drug resistance. There are currently conflicting reports in the literature regarding the nature of the interaction with some studies reporting increased metabolism of EFV in the presence of RIF and others reporting just the opposite[108].

2.1.2.3. Effect of cART on TB

The risk of TB among HIV-infected persons not receiving cART is high. On a population level, there has been a remarkably consistent 80% decrease in TB risk among persons who receive cART [40,41,42]. However, even after several years of cART, the risk of TB remains higher than in HIV-uninfected persons, suggesting that immune restoration is not complete[16,29]. This finding is also an important reminder that HIV-infected persons receiving stable cART remain at increased risk of TB, compared with HIV-uninfected persons. Without cART up to 50% of PLHIV who are diagnosed with TB die during the first 6-8 months of TB treatment [43,44]. Studies of PLHIV in sub-Saharan Africa have also documented high rates of TB among PLHIV initiating ART; however, TB frequently remains undiagnosed[19]. Although ART is known to reduce the risk of TB among PLHIV cohorts by a mean of 67% (95% CI 61-73%), the rate of TB among PLHIV with sustained high CD4 counts on ART for longer than 5 years remains more than 4 times the rate of TB in HIV-uninfected individuals[32,33]. WHO recommends implementation of the 3 I's (Intensive case finding, Isoniazid preventive therapy, TB Infection control), along with early initiation of cART as core strategies for reducing HIV-associated TB.

Although immune reconstitution because of cART has long-term benefits with regard to risk of TB, it can also unmask TB not clinically recognized before cART initiation [45,46]. Such antiretroviral associated TB can sometimes be associated with the immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (IRIS). Consistent with this phenomenon, risk of TB is particularly high during the first 3 months of cART[47]. It is unclear whether cART is associated with an initial increase in risk of TB, compared with persons not receiving cART.

2.1.3. Clinical aspects of TB in HIV -infected patients

HIV associated TB differs from HIV-uninfected TB in multiple aspects [5]. The risk of TB

and the clinical as well as radiographic manifestations of the disease are primary examples[48,49,50]. Antiretroviral therapy has a profound effect on lowering the risk of TB in HIV-infected persons, but it can also be associated with immune reconstitution inflammatory disease and unmasking of previously subclinical disease. There are also differences in treatment of HIV associated TB because of overlapping drug toxicities and drug-drug interactions between cART and ATT. The clinical manifestations of TB in the HIV-infected patient are heavily influenced by the degree of immunosuppression [51,52]. The classic symptoms of TB (cough, fever, weight loss and night sweats) have wide range differential diagnosis in HIV infection. Mycobacterial infections are the most common cause of fever of unknown origin in HIV infection, with TB being overwhelmingly the most common cause in developing countries[53]. There are two key factors that affect the clinical presentation of TB in HIV-infected adults: the degree of immune suppression and the rate of disease progression.

Pulmonary tuberculosis (PTB) – PTB presents as same as HIV-uninfected patients when immunity is relatively preserved (CD4 > 200 cells/ μ L). In this case the typical adult pattern with upper lobe predominance and cavitation is seen. However, in patients with severe immunosuppression (CD4 < 200 cells/µL), PTB generally presents without cavities as lower and mid-lung zones infiltrates [54,55]. Hemoptysis which is associated with cavitation is unusual in HIV-infected patients with advanced immune suppression. Disseminated TB also is more common with severe immunosuppression. The second factor affecting clinical presentation is the fact that TB tends to progress more rapidly in HIVinfected individuals [56,57]. A study of ambulatory miners in South Africa revealed that TB disease duration was three fold shorter when HIV existed [57]. Consequently TB during HIV is more sub acute than a chronic disease. The clinical implication is such that it is important to diagnose TB early in order to reduce morbidity and mortality related with it. Cough of any duration should trigger work-up for pulmonary tuberculosis. On the flip side, the shorter disease duration in addition to higher proportion of smear negativity with HIV infection lowers risk of TB transmission from HIV-infected patients. HIV-infected PTB patients often have smear-negative PTB because of low prevalence of cavitary disease. Because sputum smear is the principal means of diagnosing TB in high TB/HIV prevalent settings, smear-negative patients are often treated late, if at all. The mortality rate is higher among such patients than among HIV-infected patients with smear

positive TB (because of delays in TB diagnosis in the former) and higher than among HIVuninfected persons with smear-negative disease (because of HIV infection)[58].

Subclinical disease: Asymptomatic, subclinical TB, with normal chest radiography but positive sputum culture results, is a common feature of HIV-associated tuberculosis. It may account for 10% of cases in high TB/HIV prevalent settings [59,60,61]. It is recognized when sputum cultures are done either intensive case finding or in prevalence surveys. The natural history of subclinical TB in HIV is inadequately understood[62]. In one study from South Africa on 1429 (54% on cART) HIV clinic attendees; sputum positive cultures for

M. tuberculosis were seen in 8.8%. Although TB prevalence was lower in people already on cART compared to not, the proportion of people with positive TB sputum cultures and no symptoms of TB were higher [63].

Extrapulmonary tuberculosis (EPTB) - EPTB and disseminated form of TB are more seen in HIV-infected patients with advanced immunosuppression [6,64,65,66,67]. EPTB occurs alone or in association with PTB in 40-60% of cases. Commonest sites for extrapulmonary involvement are the lymph nodes and pleura, but virtually any site can be involved [52,68,69]. A study of 464 patients with extrapulmonary TB, HIV-infected patients (n=199) were more likely than control patients to have either mediastinal adenopathy or disseminated, genitourinary, or intrabdominal TB[68]. Involvement of the genitourinary system in HIV infection is usually a manifestation of disseminated disease. A case-control study of 3019 patients with TB found that pleural involvement was more common among HIV-infected patients than HIV-uninfected patients (11 versus 6 percent)[70]. Disseminated TB may present as prolonged fever without pulmonary symptoms and is a common cause of death among hospitalized HIV-infected patients[71,72].

2.1.4. Management of TB/HIV coinfection

2.1.4.1. General principles

The discussion that follows is about drug-susceptible tuberculosis in HIV-infection. The approach towards optimal management of TB in HIV coinfected patients is complicated with the need for cART, drug-drug interactions, over-lapping toxicities and immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome [73,74]. Recommendations for selecting antituberculosis treatment regimens in HIV-infected adults follow the same general approach as for adults without HIV infection. The treatment of tuberculosis in HIV requires multiple first-line ATT drugs. The standard is to use four drugs during the first eight weeks, called the intensive phase. The drugs used are rifampicin (rifamycin derivative often used), isoniazid, pyrazinamide and ethambutol. The following four months of treatment (continuation phase) is with two drugs and these are rifampicin and isoniazid. Total of six months of treatment is the standard in pulmonary TB, but other forms like CNS involvement with TB would require up to 12 months of treatment. However, intermittent dosing of ATT is not recommended for HIV-infected patients, particularly when the CD4 count is < 100 cells /µL. Vitamin B-6 (pyridoxine) should be supplemented to prevent peripheral neuropathy because of isoniazid. The usual dose recommended is 50 mgs daily. In addition cotrimoxazole needs to be given as OI preventive therapy in TB/HIV coinfected patients. Directly observed therapy (DOT) facilitates adherence and helps to prevent the development of drug resistance.

2.1.4.2. The challenges

The clinical scenario is often complicated requiring administration of multiple drugs: combination therapy for treating TB, prophylaxis and possible treatment for intervening OIs and cART. In resource limited settings, the patients often present late to care with severe protein energy malnutrition and other comorbidities. Therapy for susceptible TB is often as favorable as HIV-uninfected patients [75,76]. The duration of treatment for the HIV-infected patient with active TB is discussed elsewhere. Treatment for HIV infection appears to be as effective in the HIV/TB coinfected patient as it is in patients with HIV alone when attention is paid to potential drug-drug interactions and over-lapping toxicities. Careful review for drug interactions is essential when considering ATT in patients taking antiretroviral therapy or vice versa. This is discussed in another section of this thesis. The other challenges which are drug-induced liver injury and immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome are discussed separately.

3. OPTIMIZATION OF TUBERCULOSIS AND HIV CO-TREATMENT

Drug susceptible TB during HIV infection responds as favorably as in HIV-uninfected patients. This is on the basis of rates of sputum culture conversion rates and adherence to first-line TB treatment [75,76]. On the contrary, all-cause mortality rate is higher among HIV-infected than uninfected [48]. Tuberculosis treatment in HIV-infected patients is the same as HIV-uninfected. Standard first-line TB treatment for two months with four-drug regimen (intensive phase), followed with four months of treatment with two-drug regimen (continuation phase) is highly effective in patients with HIV associated drug-susceptible tuberculosis [28]. However, management of TB/HIV coinfection poses multiple clinical challenges: defining the optimum duration of TB treatment and cART timing in relation to starting TB therapy, concerns of pill burden, drug-drug interactions and complications of the cotreatment, such as drug toxicities and immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (IRIS). Mortality risk was reduced by 56% with cART initiated while on TB treatment rather than at completion [77]. Majority of deaths during TB/HIV cotreatment occur within the first two months of TB therapy[9]. The optimal time to start cART during ATT depends on the following factors: potential benefits, possible risks and the level of immunosuppression.

Early reports of treatment outcomes in patients with HIV associated TB revealed pretty good initial outcomes, but poor long term results from HIV related mortalities [43]. At

present because of potent and safe cART regimens, long term outcomes of TB therapy have improved. Mortality during the first two months of TB therapy in HIV coinfected patients are more likely TB-related than from other HIV-associated comorbidities [43,78,79]. Consequently, anti-tuberculosis therapy should be initiated first with rifamycin-based combination therapy (if drug-susceptible) and drug related adverse events like hepatotoxicity recognized early to be managed accordingly. Optimum TB/HIV coinfected case management requires trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole prophylaxis and early initiation of cART[80].

3.1. Duration of TB treatment in TB/HIV coinfection

Because initial responses to therapy are mostly excellent in both HIV-infected and uninfected patients, the optimum duration of TB treatment is determined by the risk of TB relapse. Current treatment guidelines (The American Thoracic Society, Infectious Disease Society of America and the WHO) recommend that the duration of TB therapy be the same for both HIV-infected and uninfected persons [76,81,82]. For drug-susceptible PTB, a 6month course of rifamycin-based therapy is the standard of care [76]. This is because of comparable rates of TB relapse in persons receiving 6-month regimens of rifamycin-based therapy (e.g. rifampicin or rifabutin)[43,83,84,85]. Nevertheless, the evidences are not sufficiently strong as most of the studies which showed equal efficacy had small sample size and were non-randomized. Therefore, some experts suggest longer duration of TB therapy. Systematic reviews and meta-analysis done in 2010 and 2012[26,86] evaluated the duration of TB treatment, dosing schedule of rifamycin-based TB therapy, and effect of cART on TB treatment outcomes in HIV-infected patients. More than 5000 citations, six randomized trials and 21 cohort studies were reviewed. In conclusion, the findings suggest relapses occur more commonly with regimens employing two months rifamycin therapy compared with at least eight months (adjusted Hazard ratio, aHR=5, 95% CI 1.9-13.2) and lower with regimens using rifamycin for more than 9 months than six months (pooled risk difference -9.1%; 95% CI -16.5 to -1.8 %). Compared with daily therapy during the intensive phase of TB therapy, thrice weekly regimen was associated with higher risk of treatment failure (aHR==4.0; 95% CI 1.5-10.4) and relapse (aHR=4.8; 95% CI 1.8-12.8). In fact, the data have limitations in terms of design and the number of randomized trials. Thus, randomized controlled trials comparing efficacy and safety of six versus nine months of TB treatment in TB/HIV coinfected patients are priority.

3.2. The optimal timing of cART in HIV-infected adults with TB

Without cART among TB/HIV coinfected patients and CD4 count <200 cells/ μ L, the mortality rate is as high as 91% [43,44,87]. Initiation of cART is associated with improved overall survival in HIV-infected patients including those with TB/HIV coinfection [88,89,90,91,92]. It is therefore recommended that HIV-infected patients receive treatment

for both diseases, regardless of their CD4 cell counts. On the other hand, the optimal timing of cART initiation in relation to the timing of TB therapy requires further definition. TB case fatality ratios (CFR) in African and Asian patients not receiving cART or in whom it was deferred for 8 weeks ranges from 16-35%[8,9,10]. In settings where HIV prevalence is high, the CFR was highest in the first two months of TB therapy suggesting cART should begin early. Mortality risk was reduced by 56% with cART initiated while on TB treatment rather than at completion[77]. The optimal balance between the potential benefits and risks directs cART timing during TB therapy. The potential benefit of starting cART before two weeks is earlier immune restoration and improved survival. Whereas the potential risks are augmented toxicities, TB-IRIS, drug interactions and pill burden that complicate treatment outcome and patient care.

Current consensus guidelines including the WHO (2013) recommend that cART be started in all TB/HIV coinfected patients (irrespective of CD4 cell counts) within the first eight weeks of TB treatment as soon as it is possible (strong recommendation, low quality evidence). The recommendation is based on emphasis given to overall survival and reduced mortality risk than increased incidence of IRIS and its consequences or drug related adverse events. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the scientific literature was conducted to assess the optimal timing for cART initiation following TB therapy [93]. The outcome measures were minimum severe adverse events, incidence of IRIS, death, AIDS defining events and lost to follow-up. Only RCTs evaluating early versus delayed cART (1 to 4 weeks vs. 8 to 12 weeks after initiation of TB treatment) were used for the main analysis of benefits and harms. Eight trials were included (n=4568) that were conducted in Africa, Asia, and the United States. The selected studies generally had low risk of bias for the assessed domains. Overall, early cART reduced mortality compared with delayed cART (relative risk [RR], 0.81 [95% CI, 0.66 to 0.99]; I2=0%). In a prespecified subgroup analysis, early cART reduced mortality compared with delayed cART among patients with baseline CD4 counts < 50 cells/µL (RR, 0.71 [95% CI 0.54 to 0.93]; I2=0%). However, a mortality benefit from early cART was not found among those with CD4 counts > 50 cells/ µL (RR, 1.05[95% CI 0.68 to 1.61]; I2=56%). Early cART was associated with higher incidence of TB-IRIS than delayed cART (RR, 2.31 [95% CI, 1.87 to 2.86]; I2=19%). Only few of the trials provided sufficient data for subgroup analysis. The conclusion from this systematic review and meta-analysis is that early cART in HIV-infected adults with newly diagnosed TB improves survival in those with CD4 cell counts < 50 cells/ μ L, although this is associated with a 2-fold higher frequency of TB-IRIS. In patients with CD4 counts greater than 50 cells/ µL, the evidence is insufficient to support or refute a survival benefit conferred by early versus delayed cART initiation.

3.3. Overlapping drug toxicities

Hepatotoxicity is a common adverse effect of isoniazid, the rifamycins, and pyrazinamide. It also occurs frequently with nonnucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) and HIV-1 protease inhibitors. Underlying HIV infection may also contribute to the risk, and concomitant hepatitis C virus infection further increases the risk [94,95]. Other adverse effects, such as gastrointestinal upset and rash, are common with both types of medications. Although stavudine and didanosine are less frequently used for the treatment of HIV infection, they can cause peripheral neuropathy, as isoniazid.

3.3.1. Efavirenz-induced hepatotoxicity

Efavirenz-based cART is the preferred treatment regimen with rifampin-based TB therapy. It is also the preferred first-line cART in most guidelines. Use of EFV has been linked with severe hepatotoxicity, though less frequently than nevirapine (NVP) [96]. The cumulative incidence reaches up to 28.6% for NVP and 13.6% for EFV [96,97]. EFV is metabolized by liver enzymes, mainly by CYP2B6 and to a less extent by CYP3A4/5. UGT2B7 is also involved in direct EFV and 8-hydroxyefavirenz glucuronidation. Studies have reported influence of ABCB1 genetic variations on EFV kinetics [98]. Ethnicity and Pharmacogenetic variations are well documented to influence between patient variability in susceptibility toward EFV-based cART induced DILI. Severe DILI (defined as ALT>5xULN), occurs in 1.3-4.5% of patients receiving efavirenz based cART.

3.3.2. First-line TB drugs induced liver injury

In TB/HIV coinfection currently recommended treatment regimens for TB involve drugs which are potentially hepatotoxic. Of the commonly used first-line ATT, three are hepatotoxic (isoniazid, rifampicin and pyrazinamide) with increasing risk when used together. These drugs are often given in combination making it difficult to identify the culprit drug. Although many TB patients with or without concomitant HIV tolerate first-line ATT very well, the outcome is unfavorable when severe DILI occurs [99,100,101,102]. There is limited data about DILI in TB/HIV coinfected patients during the HAART era. In general, the reported incidences of DILI range from 4 to 27% and jaundice from 0 to 7%[103]. The studies have the following limitations: varying definitions of methodology, inclusion of mild cases which could just be adaptation, smaller sample size, not accounting for population, treatment and monitoring differences, lack of HIV negative control groups and unable to exclude other causes of liver injury. The exclusive roles of HIV and cART are difficult to evaluate in severe DILI during TB/HIV coinfection. However, it appears to be slight [103,104].

3.4. Drug interactions in the treatment of HIV-related tuberculosis

Antiretroviral regimens based on a NNRTI plus two nucleoside analogues combine

potency, low pill burden and safety. Interactions between the rifampicin (RIF) and EFV are therefore particularly important. A general point about drug-interactions due to rifampicin is that, while this agent causes many drug-drug interactions, its metabolism is not affected by other drugs (although it induces its own metabolism via a cytosolic enzyme)[105]. RIF, a cornerstone first-line ATT in resource-limited settings, is a potent inducer of drug metabolizing enzymes and transport proteins, and this may reduce plasma exposure of antiretroviral drugs including protease inhibitors and NNRTIs. Despite its long term autoinduction effect, EFV is the preferred NNRTI to be used with RIF based ATT because of its proved efficacy, simpler dosing schedule, proved better safety profile and reduced impact on its pharmacokinetics compared with nevirapine or protease inhibitors. EFV is metabolized by CYP2B6 and CYP3A. As a potent CYP3A inducer, rifampicin decreases EFV concentrations, although the magnitude of the interaction (10-20% decrease in the AUC and trough concentration) suggests that CYP2B6, which is not thought to be affected by rifampicin, is the major metabolic pathway [106,107]. CYP2B6, the major EFVmetabolizing enzyme, is induced by EFV and RIF. Therefore, coadminstration of RIF with EFV may result in additive effect to induce CYP2B6 enzyme and this may further reduce systemic EFV exposure. We studied this interaction in Ethiopians and found out that RIFbased ATT has no significant influence on long-term EFV plasma exposure and efficacy. Therefore, increasing the standard dose of EFV (600 mgs daily) in adults is not required when coadmistered with RIF-based ATT[108].

3.5. Tuberculosis associated immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (TB-IRIS)

The term "immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome" describes collection of inflammatory disorders that manifests phenotypically. The features are paradoxical worsening of already existing infectious process/es and it follows initiation of cART. The infectious process may have been diagnosed and treated or it could be subclinical and later unmasked by the host's restored immunity to mount inflammatory response [45,46]. The key concepts are: it is an inflammatory response to preexisting pathogens and manifests with worsening. It always follows the introduction of cART. There is no universally agreed upon definition for IRIS. However, it is generally accepted that the diagnosis of IRIS requires the worsening of a recognized ("paradoxical" IRIS) or unrecognized pre-existing infection ("unmasking" IRIS) in the setting of improving immunologic function. Nearly any pathogen can cause IRIS, but the most common are mycobacteria (TB and MAC) and fungi (especially Cryptococcus). The interval from cART to IRIS is 60% within 60 days with a reported range of 3-658 days [109]. Risk factors with the OI pathogen include: CD4 count < 50-100 cells/µL at initiation of cART, high HIV RNA levels at baseline, rapid fall in HIV RNA levels, treatment naive at the time of OI treatment and short interval between cART and OI treatment[109]. In the case of TB, two forms of IRIS are recognized. Paradoxical TB-IRIS occurs in patients diagnosed with TB and established on TB treatment before cART, who then manifest with recurrent or new TB symptoms and clinical

manifestations after ART initiation. Unmasking TB-IRIS occurs in patients who are not on TB treatment when they start cART, and who then have unusually inflammatory presentation of TB in the first three months of cART [110].

4. HIV INFECTION

4.1. HIV Virology

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) belongs to family of viruses known as retroviruses and genus lentiviruses. HIV-1 was first isolated in 1983, soon after the beginning of the AIDS epidemic, and HIV-2 was isolated subsequently in 1986. HIV-1 and HIV-2 represent two distinct epidemics. The two HIV types show 40-60% amino acid homology[111]. The HIV-1 epidemic started as a zoonotic infection acquired from chimpanzees in equatorial West Africa harboring a similar lentivirus known as simian immunodeficiency virus (SIVcpz) which evolved to HIV-1. HIV-2 is thought to have originated in a similar fashion in equatorial West Africa from sooty mangabey monkeys carrying a related simian immunodeficiency virus (SIVsmm).

Phylogenetic analysis of HIV samples has led to the classification of HIV-1 in to three genetic groups, M (major), O (outlier) and N (non-M, non-O). Most HIV-1 infections globally are caused by group M viruses. With group M, nine subtypes are recognized, designated by the letters A-D, F-H, J and K[112]. Although this classification was initially based on env sequences, it applies to all regions of the genome. Genetic variation within a subtype can be of the order of 15-20%, whereas variation between subtypes is approximately 25-35%, depending on the subtypes and genome regions examined [113].

HIV-1C has become responsible for nearly half of global infections and dominates now in low-and middle-income countries (LMICs), mainly regimented in southern African countries and India[114].

4.2. HIV-1 subtype C in Ethiopia (HIV-1C_{ET})

HIV-1 subtype C (HIV-1C_{ET}) was first identified in Ethiopia in 1986[115]. Unlike many neighboring countries, the Ethiopian HIV-1 epidemic is dominated exclusively by HIV-1C viruses. Ethiopia shows HIV-1C prevalence of 99%, though the depth of sampling was very low [116,117]. Two genetically different subtype C strains designated C and C', cocirculate roughly with similar prevalence and among the same risk groups and different geographical areas in Ethiopia [118]. Thomson et al. revealed that Ethiopian-C clade corresponds to one subtype C cluster similar to other eastern African countries including Burundi, Djibouti, Kenya, and Uganda; while the Ethiopian–C' clade is assigned to be an independent cluster associated to southern Africa[119].

A study conducted in Ethiopia showed that infection with clade CET is associated with initially lower HIV-1 RNA levels but more rapid onset of disease than infections with clade C'_{ET}[120]. The authors proposed that the clade C_{ET} may be less efficiently transmitted than clade C'_{ET}, which is consistent with epidemiological evidence that show that the strain C'_{ET} has gained ground and surpassed the clade C_{ET} over time.

5. RATIONALE OF THE THESIS

Drug susceptible TB in HIV infection responds often as favorably as in HIV-uninfected patients. Nevertheless, there are defined potential benefits as well as established risks during TB/HIV cotreatment. Mortality risk reduces by almost 60% when cART is initiated during TB treatment rather than at completion. Therefore, it is an appropriate research question defining the optimal time to initiate cART during ATT. Most of the deaths related to TB/HIV coinfection occur within the first two months of TB therapy (intensive phase). Recent meta-analysis that included 8 clinical trials (n=4568) showed that early initiation of cART (one to four weeks after ATT) improves overall survival in those with CD4 counts < 50 cells/ μ L, though the data is insufficient to prove such benefit when the CD4 count is above. Our study hypothesis was that initiating cART earlier than second week of TB therapy in patients with CD4 counts < 200 cells/ μ L, will improve overall survival at 48 weeks (paper II). This study tries to answer a clinically relevant question during HIV infection with comorbidities, "Does earlier cART always mean better patient outcome?"

One of the most important treatment limiting adverse effects during TB/HIV cotreatment is drug-induced liver injury (DILI). TB/HIV coinfection and advanced immunosuppression are mentioned as risk factors for DILI. In addition, commonly used drugs for treatment and prevention of opportunistic infections in HIV such as trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole and fluconazole are potentially hepatotoxic. The role of concurrent cART on first-line TB therapy induced DILI severity has not been adequately investigated. There is limited data about DILI in TB/HIV coinfected patients during the HAART era. In general, the reported incidences of DILI range from 4 to 27% and jaundice from 0 to 7%. The studies have the following limitations: varying definitions of DILI and methodology, inclusion of mild cases which could just be adaptation, smaller sample size, not accounting for population, treatment and monitoring differences, lack of HIV negative control groups and unable to exclude other causes of liver injury. Thus, we hypothesized that concurrent TB/HIV treatment increases severe DILI risk and interruption of first-line TB therapy (paper IV). To the best of our knowledge in the HAART era there has not been any prospective, controlled study (same population) with adequate sample size that evaluated severe DILI, the effect of concurrent EFV-based cART timing and validated Hy's Law in TB/HIV coinfected patients with baseline CD4 counts below and above 200 cells/µL. Although EFV-based regimen is often the preferred first line cART regimen, hepatotoxicity data is limited in the African Efavirenz is metabolized mainly by CYP 2B6 and to a lesser extent by population. CYP3A4/5. It is possible that Pharmacogenetic variations affect exposure to EFV to affect susceptibility to DILI. Use of EFV has been linked with severe DILI events. Drug induced liver injury related to EFV-based cART was studied during HIV-infection (CD4 count< 200 cells/µL) without concomitant active TB (paper I). Potential risk factors are sought and

pharacogenomics analysis performed to find out genetic markers.

Based on earlier studies in Ethiopia using smaller gene fragments, mainly partial pol, gag, env and LTR, a mixed circulation of HIV-1C_{ET} (subtype C and C') is suggested and their introduction into Ethiopia has been estimated in the late 1970s or early 1980s. Intra-HIV 1C recombination has been proposed. However, NFLG of HIV-1C from Ethiopian migrants in Israel identified a strong geographical clustering of the NFLG sequences, but showed a weak geographic cluster in small fragments with respect to $HIV-1C_{ET}$ strains. We evaluated the clustering pattern of $HIV-1C_{ET}$ strains in Ethiopia by analyzing the $HIV-1C_{ET}$ strains at the Near Full Length Genome (NFLG) level from our cohort of HIV infected patients (paper III). The presence of drug resistance mutations is assessed and viral trophism evaluated.

6. STUDY OBJECTIVES

6.1. General objectives:

The general objectives of this thesis are to find out the optimal timing to initiate EFV-based cART during TB/HIV cotreatment when the CD4 count is $< 200 \text{ cells/}\mu\text{L}$, assess drug-induced liver injury because of EFV-based cART and TB/HIV cotreatment with first-line ATT and EFV-based cART. The Ethiopian HIV viral subtype (HIV-1CET) is characterized at near full length genome level.

6.2. Specific objectives:

A. Compare after 48 weeks of study enrollment in TB and HIV coinfected patients with baseline CD4 counts $< 200 \text{ cells}/\mu\text{L}$ initiated with cART at weeks one, four and eight (paper II):

- 1) All-cause mortality rates
- 2) Incidence rates of hepatotoxicity requiring interruption of first-line TB therapy
- 3) Incidence rates of TB-IRIS
- 4) Incidence rates of AIDS-defining illnesses
- 5) Increases in the median number of CD4 counts
- 6) Proportion of patients with undetectable HIV-RNA levels (i.e. <400 copies/mL)
- 7) Proportion of smear positive PTB cases converted smear negative after 8 weeks.

- B. In TB/HIV coinfected patients with active TB cases without HIV and HIV patients with CD4 count < 200 cells/ μ L (paper IV):
 - Compare risk of severe DILI events during TB/HIV co-treatment compared with TB treatment and HIV treatment with EFV-based cART and isoniazid preventive therapy.
 - Compare the risk of severe DILI events in subgroups of TB/HIV co-infected participants (CD4 category below 200 cells/µL versus equals to and above 200 cells/µL) started with EFV-based cART (one, four and eight weeks) subsequent to ATT.
 - Evaluate patient risk factors for severe DILI emerging from TB and/or HIV cotreatment
 - 4) Characterize the different phenotypes of Liver injury seen in the severe DILI cases.
 - 5) Define Time of onset of severe DILI in relation to the start of ATT.
 - 6) Incidence rates of ATT and/or cART interruption
 - 7) Compare severe DILI specific mortality ratio
 - 8) Compare all-cause mortality rates before reintroduction of first-line ATT
 - 9) Assess time to remission of severe DILI events upon stopping first-line ATT
 - 10) Assess hospitalization rate because of severe DILI
 - 11) Assess recurrence of liver injury upon re-exposure to first-line ATT
 - 12) Evaluate Hy's Law validity in cases treated for TB and/or HIV
- C. Regarding the HIV-1C subtype in Ethiopia (paper III):
 - 1) Characterize the strain at near full-length genome (NFLG) level
 - 2) Perform baseline drug resistance testing (GRT)
 - 3) Perform genotypic tropism testing (GTT)
- D. Regarding EFV-based cART DILI (paper I):
 - 1) Assess for genetic biomarkers
 - 2) Assess for predictors of DILI

7. MATERIAL AND METHODS

7.1. Study design

A multicenter, open label prospective cohort study was undertaken in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia from June 2, 2008 until April 22, 2011. There are three groups of patients. The first group (Group one) are TB/HIV co-infected patients with baseline CD4 count below and above 200 cells/ μ L, the second group (Group two) HIV negative, TB cases on ATT and the third group (Group three) HIV-infected patients (CD4 < 200 cells/ μ L) screened negative for TB and treated with EFV-based cART and isoniazid preventive therapy (IPT). All study participants were followed by the same investigator team in the same setting and time interval. According to baseline CD4 counts and time to initiate efavirenz based cART subsequent to ATT, Group one (TB/HIV) is subdivided in to four subgroups: Subgroup one (CD4 count < 200 cells/ μ L, cART one week), Subgroup two (CD4 cell count < 200 cells/ μ L, cART four weeks), Subgroup three (CD4 cell count < 200 cells/ μ L, cART eight weeks) and Subgroup four (CD4 cell count > 200 cells/ μ L, cART eight weeks).

7.2. Ethical considerations

Ethical permission was obtained from the Institutional Review Board of College of Health Sciences at the Addis Ababa University, the Ethiopian Science and Technology Agency as well as Food, Medicine and Health Care Administration and Control authority of Ethiopia.

7.3. Settings and subjects

Study participants were recruited from four trial sites within Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. The main trial site was Tikur Anbessa Specialized referral hospital and others were health center. Eligible subjects were ambulatory with confirmed or probable new TB diagnosis and/or confirmed HIV infection. They were 18 years or older and written informed consent obtained on enrolment. The diagnosis of TB was based on WHO criteria for the diagnosis of smear positive pulmonary TB (SP-PTB), smear negative TB (SN-PTB) and extrapulmonary TB (EPTB). Miliary form of TB with pulmonary involvement (PTB) and EPTB manifested with PTB were classified as PTB. Exclusion criteria were TB of the central nervous system, Karnofsky score < 40. Serum ALT more than 3 times the upper limit of normal (ULN), total bilirubin > 2.5mgs/dL, hemoglobin < 8 gms/dL, previous antiretroviral or ATT and pregnancy. HIV diagnosis was made per the national guide line of two different positive rapid test results.

7.4. Interventions

Subjects in Group one (TB/HIV) and two (TB) received daily weight adjusted fixed dose combinations of rifampicin, isoniazid, ethambutol and pyrazinamide (RHZE) for 2 months (intensive phase) and subsequent fixed dose combinations of isoniazid and rifampicin (RH) for 4 months (continuation phase). In Group one, Subgroups one to three were randomly allocated while Subgroup four were series of cases with TB/HIV co-infection (baseline CD4 cell count of > 200 cells/µL) in whom cART was initiated at the 8th week of ATT. The cART regimen used in our study was EFV-based (600 mg once daily) plus lamivudine, and study site physician selection of zidovudine, stavudine or tenofovir. Time to initiate cART was deferred when ATT was interrupted because of DILI. The participants were assessed at enrolment (baseline), and subsequently in weeks 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 12, 24, 36 and 48. At each study visit complete blood count, serum AST, ALT, ALP, Bilirubin (total and direct), urea and creatinine were measured. At baseline and 12 weeks interval for HIV infected participants, CD4 count and HIV RNA levels were determined until the 24th week and last at 48th week. Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) and Hepatitis C Antibody (HCV Ab) status were confirmed at baseline. Sputum for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) was examined with Ziehl-Neelsen stain when PTB was diagnosed. HIV positive participants were screened for active TB with standardized symptoms questionnaire, sputum exam with Ziehl-Neelsen staining and routine chest X-ray. In addition to the above investigations, additional blood samples were collected from 251 HIV infected patients, CD4 counts < 200 cells/µL, for genotype analysis and from 212 patients on the 4th week of EFV-based cART blood sample was collected for quantification of plasma EFV and 8-OH EFV concentrations (paper I).

All HIV infected study participants with baseline CD4 counts less than 350 cells/ μ L received cotrimoxazole 960 mgs daily or dapsone 100 mgs daily if proved allergic. Group three (HIV) participants received IPT for six months which was started after the 8th week of enrollment irrespective of TST status. Participants are considered to have completed IPT if they attended all six isoniazid prescription visits.

Figure 1: Study design and participants enrolment



* Comp= Completed the 48 weeks of the study

** Lost To Follow up (LTF) is defined as can't be reached or outcome traced.

8. RESULTS

A total of 1089 patients participated in the different studies. The study design, the numbers of participants enrolled, completed the study or Lost to follow-up are all shown in Figure 1. There were three main groups and four subgroups. Group one, with TB and HIV coinfection, comprised of 575 (52.8%) study participants. Group two, active TB cases without concomitant HIV infection, had 219 (20.1%) participants and Group three, HIV-infected (CD4 counts < 200 cells/µL) without concomitant TB, had 295 (27.1%) participants. Group one, depending on cART timing with respect to TB therapy (one, four and eight weeks) and baseline CD4 counts below and above 200 cells/µL, subgroup analysis was made. Subgroup one (CD4 < 200 cells/µL and cART at a median of one week) had 163 study participants, Subgroup two (CD4 count < 200 cells/µL and cART at a median of four weeks) had 160 study participants, Subgroup three (CD4 count < 200 cells/µL and cART at a median of eight weeks) had 155 study participants and Subgroup four (CD4 count > 200 cells/µL and cART at a median of eight weeks) had 97 study participants.

Demographic, clinical and laboratory characteristics of the study participants

The mean age (1SD) of the study participants was 35 years (10). The Female to Male sex ratio was one to one except in Group three where the females were 2.6 times more. At baseline, the BMI (mean, 1SD) was 19.2 kgs/m2 (3.1), Karnofsky score (median, IQR) was 80% (30%), Hemoglobin (mean, 1SD) was 12.1 (2.2) gms/dL, WBC count (median, IQR) was 5,500 (3,300) cells/ μ L, absolute neutrophil count (median, IQR) was 3,400 (2,900) cells/ μ L, Platelet count (median, IQR) was 283,000 (184,000) cells/ μ L, AST (mean,1SD) was 49 (39.5) IU/L, ALT (mean, 1SD) was 35 (22.4) IU/L, ALP (mean, 1SD) was 141.2 (95.2) IU/L, and serum albumin level (mean,1SD) was 3.7 (0.8) g/dL. Over all 172 (22%) had smear positive pulmonary TB (PTB+ve), 382 (48%) had smear-negative pulmonary TB (PTB-ve) and 239 (30%) had extrapulmonary tuberculosis (EPTB). Of the HIV-infected patients enrolled our study 773(89%) had CD4 count < 200 cells/ μ L.

8.1. Study I: High plasma efavirenz level and CYP 2B6*6 are associated with efavirenz-based HAART induced liver injury in the treatment of naive HIV patients from Ethiopia: a prospective cohort study.

The study was done on 285 participants from Group three. The participants received

daily cotrimoxazole prophylaxis 960 mgs tablets or dapsone 100 mgs tablets if allergic to cotrimoxazole, followed with efavirenz-based cART three to five days later. A total of 285 patients were studied. The incidence rate of any one DILI event (defined as ALT/AST > 2xULN, 50IU/L taken as ULN) was 27.9/100 person-years and severe DILI (defined as > 5xULN) was 6.13/100 person years. The median time for DILI development was two weeks and four weeks for severe DILI. None of the patients who had severe DILI subsequently died. Multivariate Cox regression analysis revealed the following risk factors significantly associated with EFV-based cART DILI: Lower baseline Platelet counts, plasma albumin levels, CD4 counts where as higher plasma HIV-RNA levels, baseline serum ALT, AST, ALP values, Plasma EFV levels as well as CYP 2B6*6.

8.2. Study II. Efficacy and Safety of Antiretroviral Therapy Initiated One Week after Tuberculosis Therapy in Patients with CD4 Counts < 200 cells/μL: TB-HAART Study, a Randomized Clinical Trial.

A total of 478 patients from Group one with baseline CD4 count < 200 cells were studied. They were randomized to start cART after initial first-line TB therapy at a median of one week (subgroup one, n=163), four weeks (subgroup two, n=160), and eight weeks (subgroup three, n=155). The primary endpoint was all-cause mortality rate at the end of the 48 weeks of study. The secondary endpoints were hepatotoxicityrequiring interruption of TB therapy, TB-associated immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (TB-IRIS), new AIDS defining illness (ADIs), CD4 counts, HIV RNA levels, and AFB smear conversion rates. All analyses were intention-to-treat. Sixty-four deaths (13.4%) occurred in 339.2 person-years. All-cause mortality rates at 48 weeks were 25 per 100 person-years in week one, 18 per 100 person-years in week four and 15 per 100 person-years in week eight (P=0.2 by the log-rank test). All-cause mortality incidence rate ratios with CD4 counts below 50 cells/ µL versus above were 2.8 in week one (95% CI 1.2-6.7), 3.1 in week four (95% CI 1.2-8.6) and 5.1 in week eight (95% CI 1.8-16). Serum albumin < 3gms/dL (adjusted HR, aHR=2.3) and CD4 < 50 cells/ μ L (aHR=2.7) were independent predictors of mortality. Compared with similar subgroups from weeks four and eight, first-line TB treatment interruption because of severe DILI was high in week one deaths (P=0.03) and in the CD4 subgroup < 50 cells/ μ L (P=0.02). Cox-multivariate regression analysis showed that positive HCV Ab test (aHR=4.4, 95% CI 1.5-13) and CD4 count < 50 cells/µL (aHR=2.95, 95% CI 1.2-3.2) were independent predictors of grade 3 or 4 hepatotoxicity. The incidence rate of TB-IRIS was significantly higher in week one, but only one patient from 22 who had TB-IRIS subsequently died. There were 39 ADIs documented at a median of four weeks after ATT started. There was no significant difference in incidence rates among the three groups at week 48. The median number of CD4 cells gained, the proportion of patients who achieved undetectable HIV RNA levels, rates of sputum smear conversions in the 48 weeks of the study were not significantly different among the various study groups.

8.3. Study III. Phylogenetic analysis of near full-length genome reveals high intra-HIV-1 subtype C diversity but a strong geographical cluster in Ethiopia abstain in sub-genomic region.

Plasma samples (n=150) from 478 TB/HIV coinfected participants with baseline CD4 count < 200 cells/ μ L were randomly selected (every third sample or fourth when missing). In 30 of the samples, HIV-1C near full length genome level (NFLG) analysis was performed amplifying two large amplicons of 5.5 kb and 3.7 kb, followed by Sanger sequencing with 17 primers. Genotypic Resistance Testing (GRT) and Genotypic Tropism Testing (GTT) were performed with in-house methods. The phylogenetic analysis at Near Full Length Genome identified two clusters of HIV-1C_{ET}, though all strains still formed one large overarching cluster together. A greater diversity was found among HIV-1C_{ET} strains compared to HIV-1C strains from other geographical locations. The geographic clustering was abstained in the small subgenomic regions, pol and env. Ninety five percent of the subtype C viral strains had R5 tropism. Primary drug resistance mutation was identified in <5% of the isolates.

8.4. Study IV. Evaluation of severe antituberculosis Drug-Induced Liver Injury, the effect of concurrent antiretroviral therapy timing and Hy's Law in Tuberculosis & HIV coinfected patients: A Prospective cohort study.

The study aims to assess risk of severe Drug-Induced Liver Injury (DILI), the effect of concurrent cART and validate Hy's Law during TB and HIV cotreatment. Participants were TB/HIV coinfected, taking cART within the first eight weeks of TB therapy (Group one) compared with HIV negative TB cases (Group two) and HIV infected patients on efavirenz based cART and INH preventive therapy (Group three). Of 1089 patients enrolled, 575 (52.8%) were in Group one, 219 (20.1%) in Group two and 295(27.1%) in Group three. A total of 64 severe DILI events occurred within 817 Person-Years (PY) of follow up, incidence rate (IR) = 7.8/100 person-years (95% CI 6.1-9.9) and case fatality ratio=32.8%. The IR of severe DILI were 14.6/100 PY (Group one), 1/100 PY (Group two) and 0.5/100 PY (Group three). Subgroup analysis in Group one showed the following risks of severe DILI events: Subgroup one (23 cases, aHR=32.1, 95% CI 4.3-240), Subgroup two (18 cases, aHR=27.4, 95% CI 3.6-206),

Subgroup three (16 cases, aHR= 29.2, 95% CI 3.9-221) and Subgroup four (4 cases, aHR= 11.4, 95% CI 1.2-103), P value 0.08 by the log rank test. When baseline CD4 counts in TB/HIV coinfected participants were categorized below 50 cells/µL versus equals and above 50 cells, severe DILI risk was higher in the first group than latter (aHR=1.8, 95% CI 1.06-3.1). In multivariate analysis, independent risk factors for severe DILI in addition to TB/HIV coinfection were abnormal baseline ALT and T Bil values, CD4 < 50 cells/µL and positive HCV antibody result. Hepatocellular injury was the commonest phenotype of liver injury among patients with severe DILI. The median time for the onset of severe DILI is 14 days. All severe DILI cases interrupted first-line ATT. The rate of interruption was significantly higher in Subgroup one compared with other subgroups. Comparing subgroups with CD4 counts < 50 cells/ μ L versus equals or above, the incidence rate ratio (IRR) of interrupting first-line ATT was: Subgroup one (IRR=3.1, 95% CI 1.3-8.2), Subgroup two (IRR=1, 95% CI 0.3-3) and Subgroup three (IRR=2.2, 95% CI 0.7-6.7). Twenty one cases from those who discontinued first-line ATT died subsequently: 18 were from Group one, 2 were from Group two and 1 from Group three. Subgroup analysis showed 10 were in Subgroup one, 5 were in Subgroup two, 2 were in Subgroup three and 1 was in Subgroup four (P<0.001 by the log rank test). Total of 109 patients (10%) died during the study period. Of these cases 21 had severe DILI: 18 in Group one, 2 in Group two and 1 in Group three (P=0.003 by the log-rank test). Seven cases (10.9%) from the 64 who had discontinued first-line ATT died before reintroduced. All were in Group one (2 in Subgroup one, 3 in Subgroup two and 2 in Subgroup three). The severe DILI events took a median of 14 days (IQR 10-16 days) for ALT values to lower down below 2xULN. The range varies from 5 to 56 days. Total of 30 cases were hospitalized for a median of 15 days because of severe DILI.

None of the cases had recurrence of severe DILI when ATT reintroduced. Thirteen Hy's Law cases, all Group one, identified whom three died of acute liver failure (ALF), supporting risk ratio of 12:10,000.

9. DISCUSSION

9.1. Overall findings

There are several important findings in our study regarding optimization of TB and HIV cotreatment from high TB/HIV prevalent setting. The most important research question addressed pertains to defining the optimal time to initiate EFV-based cART within the first eight weeks of ATT. The confirmed and probable TB cases depict the actual cases seen in high TB/HIV prevalent setting. The approach towards answering this research question is by trying to find out where to strike the balance optimally between the possible benefits and potential risks of TB/HIV cotreatment. Overall survival as a proxy indicator for the potential benefits and Drug-induced liver injury as proxy indicator for the safety of TB/HIV cotreatment are investigated. The study findings did not refute the benefits of earlier cART introduction; however, it is paradoxical to those who benefits most from cART introduction are simultaneously at risk of severe DILI. Thus earlier cART does not always mean better, unless properly monitored for possible untoward effects or adverse events.

9.2 Study I: High plasma efavirenz level and CYP 2B6*6 are associated with efavirenz-based HAART induced liver injury in the treatment of naive HIV patients from Ethiopia: a prospective cohort study.

Efavirenz-based cART regimen is among the most preferred regimens to initiate cART in treatment naïve HIV patients according to most guidelines including WHO. In our study the incidence of EFV-based cART induced DILI was found higher in Ethiopians compared with other studies; however, severe DILI incidence rate (defined AST/ALT > 5xULN) was 6.13 per 100 person years which is similar to other studies. Assessment of the effect of plasma pharmacokinetics in our study indicated that increased plasma efavirenz concentration was significantly associated with DILI. We also reported that patients with CYP 2B6*6/*6 genotype the risk of DILI is 2.7 times higher compared with homozygous wild-type (*1/*1). Our findings indicate high plasma EFV level as possible intermediate biomarker for the association of CYP2B6 genotype as a risk factor for DILI. The high EFV plasma level in patients who developed DILI may be the result of impaired EFV metabolism due to liver injury caused by other factors. However, the association of DILI with CYP2B6*6, a variant allele well known to cause increased plasma EFV levels, indicate involvement of direct toxicity by EFV and not by its metabolite as a possible mechanism for EFV-based cART induced liver injury in HIV patients.

9.3. Study II. Efficacy and Safety of Antiretroviral Therapy Initiated One Week after Tuberculosis Therapy in Patients with CD4 Counts < 200 cells/μL: TB-HAART Study, a Randomized Clinical Trial.

The results from the randomized clinical trial showed that initiation of cART one week after TB therapy was not associated with improved overall survival at 48 weeks in patients with CD4 count < 200 cells/µL compared with four and eight weeks. In contrast to our study hypothesis the mortality rate was higher in week one, albeit statistically insignificant. It is possible that our study was not adequately powered to reject the null hypothesis. Nevertheless, cART one week after TB therapy did not prove beneficial in terms of reducing all-cause mortality at week 48. Consistent with other studies, two third of the mortality events in our study occurred within the first two months of TB therapy. One-third of the mortality events occurred before cART was initiated. Post-hoc analysis showed cases with absolute CD4 count less than 50 cells/µL compared with more than or equals to 50 cells/µL are five times as likely to die within 48 weeks when cART was deferred for eight weeks. Overall absolute CD4 counts less than 50 cells/ μ L and serum albumin level < 3gms/dL while initiating TB therapy were independent predictors of mortality in our study. Similar results were reported from other cohort studies. Majority of the deaths in our study occurred during the first two months of TB therapy. Deaths the first two months of TB therapy in HIV coinfected patients are more likely TB-related than other HIV-associated morbidities. Therefore, the patient's overall condition including other comorbidities is probably more important than the time to initiate cART in predicting outcome. Different studies including our have clearly shown CD4 count less than 50 cells/µL independently predicts mortality in TB/HIV coinfection. In our study, the mortality trend increased in this subset of patients as cART deferred from week one to eight. On the other hand, this same group of patients had the highest incidence of grade 3 and 4 hepatotoxicity and subsequent interruption of first-line TB therapy in week one. Thus the key practical question for CD4 subgroup < 50 cells/ μ L is striking the optimal balance between the potential survival benefit if cART is initiated one week after TB therapy as opposed to the increased morbidity and mortality due to hepatotoxicity and risk of TB treatment interruption.

Based on our findings, we recommend cART later than the first but earlier than the fourth week in subset of patients with baseline CD4 count less than 50 cells/ μ L.

9.4. Study III. Phylogenetic analysis of near full-length genome reveals high intra-HIV-1 subtype C diversity but a strong geographical cluster in Ethiopia abstain in sub-genomic region.

There is great diversity of $HIV-1C_{ET}$ strains compared to HIV-1C strains from other geographical regions in and outside Africa, by analyzing near full-length genomes (NFLG), as indicated by longer $HIV-1C_{ET}$ strains clustered together. It suggests early introduction of HIV-1C in to the country followed with long time diversification. Though sub-clusters of $HIV-1C_{ET}$ were identified, all $HIV-1C_{ET}$ strains formed an overarching large monophyletic cluster at whole genome level. Phylogenetic cluster interpretation based on the small gene fragments did not hold true at whole genome level.

9.5. Study IV. Evaluation of severe antituberculosis Drug-Induced Liver Injury, the effect of concurrent antiretroviral therapy timing and Hy's Law in Tuberculosis & HIV coinfected patients: A Prospective cohort study.

DILI risk is considered to increase with TB and HIV coinfection; however, the studies have important limitations. Our study involved over 1000 patients and compared TB/HIV coinfected patients with HIV-negative TB cases and TB-screen negative HIV cases. Our study findings confirm that TB/HIV coinfection poses severe DILI risk compared with HIV uninfected TB cases taking first-line ATT and HIV positive patients receiving EFV-based cART and IPT started after the 8th week. Severe DILI risk increases 20 folds with TB/HIV co-infection. Concurrent cART timing doesn't increase severe DILI risk or the IR of TB treatment interruption except in subgroup with CD4<50 cells/µL where the risk increased two folds. Though statistically insignificant, the aHR was highest in Subgroup one and lowest in Subgroup four. Between Subgroups two and three, the aHR difference is narrow. From wide 95% CI, it is apparent that the study lacks adequate power to test for these subgroup differences. Interestingly 38(62.3%) out of the 61 severe DILI cases in Group one occurred before EFV-based cART was initiated. The respective numbers are: Subgroup one (8 cases, 35%), Subgroup two (12 cases, 67%), Subgroup three (14 cases, 88%) and Subgroup 4(4 cases, 100%). The proportion of participants who had CD4 < 50 cells/ μ L was highest in Subgroup one (37.4%) compared with 31.3% in Subgroup two and 25.2% in Subgroup three. This occurred by chance because assignment to these groups was random. Had the differences been from the EFV-based cART initiation, most of the severe DILI cases would have occurred after cART initiated. Thus, our study results show limited role of EFV-based cART and its timing to TB therapy as severe DILI risk factor. In multivariate analysis, independent risk factors for severe DILI in addition to TB/HIV coinfection were abnormal baseline ALT and T Bil values, CD4 < 50 cells/µL and positive HCV antibody result. Host genetics explains partly the severity of DILI events, even though selecting study groups from a similar population minimizes genetic variability. In our earlier study of TB/HIV coinfection, NAT2 slow acetylator genotype predominates (68%) among Ethiopians. Compared with rapid acetylator genotype, significantly higher DILI incidence occurred in slow acetylator Ethiopian coinfected patients.

10. CONCLUSIONS

With respect to the question of cART timing within the first two months of TB therapy, our study from low income and high TB/HIV prevalent setting showed cART one week after TB therapy does not improve all-cause mortality rate in coinfected patients with CD4 count < 200 cells/µL compared with four and eight weeks at 48 weeks of enrollment. Majority of the deaths in our study occurred during the first two months of TB therapy. Deaths the first two months of TB therapy in HIV coinfected patients are more likely TB-related than other HIV-associated morbidities. Therefore, the patient's over all condition including other comorbidities is probably more important than the time to initiate cART in predicting outcome. Different studies including our have clearly shown CD4 count less than 50 cells/ μ L independently predicts mortality in TB/HIV coinfection. In our study the mortality trend increased in this subset of patients as cART deferred from week one to eight. On the other hand, this same group of patients had the highest incidence rate of grade 3 and 4 hepatotoxicity and subsequent interruption of first-line TB therapy in week one. The key question for CD4 subgroup < 50 cells/ μ L is striking the optimal balance between the potential survival benefit if cART is initiated one week after TB therapy as opposed to the increased morbidity and mortality due to hepatotoxicity and risk of TB treatment interruption.

TB/HIV coinfection markedly increases severe DILI risk. It is a composite end point of the interaction among different variables which consist of advanced immunosuppression, back ground hepatitis, host genetics, concomitant hepatotoxic drug use to prevent and treat OIs and possibly altered drug metabolism in critical illness. Concurrent EFV-based cART timing did not increase severe DILI risk or affect firstline TB treatment interruption except in subgroup with baseline CD4 counts < 50cells/µL. Hy's law predicts TB treatment known risk of ALF in TB/HIV coinfected patients. The incidence of EFV-based cART induced DILI was relatively higher among Ethiopian HIV patients. CYP 2B6*6 is a possible genetic marker, where as high plasma

EFV level is the intermediate biomarker for EFV associated DILI in Ethiopian HIV patients. Interestingly enough the median time for any DILI event was overlaps at two weeks both to EFV-based cART and ATT-induced. Another observation is that during TB/HIV cotreatment, severe DILI is more associated with ATT than cART. The phylogenetic analysis showed a greater diversity among HIV-1CET strains compared to HIV-1C strains from other geographical location by NFLG analysis. We therefore propose that HIV-1C strains were introduced in Ethiopia at an early stage of the HIV-1C epidemic, followed by long time diversification within the country. Though sub-clusters of HIV-1CET were identified, all HIV-1CET strains formed an overarching large monophyletic cluster at whole genome level. Phylogenetic cluster interpretation based on the small gene fragments did not hold true at whole genome level. Due to high genetic diversity, we observed a lower sensitivity of the GTT as well as heterogeneity of tropism prediction by the established algorithms.

11. RECOMMENDATIONS

- Despite increased mortality with CD4 < 50 cells/ μ L, we recommend cART later than the first week of TB therapy to avoid serious hepatotoxicity and treatment interruption.
- During TB/HIV cotreatment, we recommend close monitoring of ALT in the first 8 weeks particularly the first two weeks of ATT.
- Symptom based approach to managing DILI in TB/HIV coinfected patients is not advisable.
- Reintroduction of first-line TB therapy can be safely done with fixed dose formulations.
- The roles of chronic immune activation and altered drug metabolism in HIV with or without comorbidities need to be studied.
- A better understanding of HIV-1C genomics architecture at whole genome level with larger number of sequences and statistical power is needed to optimize the molecular diagnostics and monitoring strategies.
- CYP 2B6 genotyping of HIV patients in clinical practice needs to be encouraged not only to identify patients at risk of EFV-induced central nervous system toxicity, but also to identify patients who are at risk of developing.

12. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My real special thanks go to my almighty God for you are the one who helped me go through this difficult and long process. Had it not been for your continued support throughout my difficult times, I would not have managed to complete this PhD study. God your care for me was really amazing. You daily convince me to trust you more than I am. You anointed my head with your oil, gave me strength and did what you promised. Nothing you promised is left undone. Then I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my main advisor, Prof Lars Lindquist, for his continuous support throughout my PhD study, to his amazing patience, motivation, guidance, generosity and knowledge. Prof Lars, you fought to me until the very end. Your assistance helped me throughout my PhD study and you were more than a supervisor. Lars, how can I thank you more? I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my PhD study. God bless you and your family. Prof Getachew Aderaye, Getu as I call you, my heart is always sensitive to you. From the first day I met you, I was struck by your kindness, self sacrifice and innovative ideas. You gave me the idea for all my studies. You had confidence in me even when I was doubtful. You brought me to this group and did your best so that I become "the Ethiopian HIV expert". I don't know how much I have realized your dream. May God bless you and your family. Professor Alemayehu, Alex as I call you, you are a special friend, knowledgeable supervisor and caring human being. Every minute I call you even late in the evening, you were responding to me. You thought me how to analyze my data. Thanks God for I have you as my supervisor and friend. With all the problems and difficulties I was going through, you were absolutely certain that I will complete this PhD study. Professor Anders Sönnerborg, I thank you for your support and introducing me to the interesting world of "HIV research". You have incredible knowledge in the field and I hope our collaboration will continue. Prof Anders Sönnerborg once again thanks for not failing me. I also thank Dr Eleni for it is through you which all these studies have realized and Prof Leif for all your help. I will never forget your advices. In full gratitude, I would like to acknowledge the department of internal medicine at the college of health sciences, Addis Ababa University for allowing me pursue with my PhD studies. My special thanks go to Dr Yewondwossen Tadesse and Dr Ahmed Reja for all you support. I would like to thank Wzo Zeinb Ali and her whole family for hosting me every time I go to Stockholm. Particularly Wzo Nejat and Ato Anwar, I ran short of words to give my thanks. I never will forget the care and support you all provided me when I needed it. Pastor Ayalew and his wife Woineshet, only God

reward you for what you are doing to and my family. can me My family deserves my best thanks, particularly my wife Wzo Seble. Seblie, this is your PhD. I thank God because you are my wife. Only God knows how much you suffered through this process. I love you to the last of my breath. My three sons (Amanuel, Kaleb and Dawit), you are such handsome boys, intelligent, God given dear gifts to me and your mom. I love you all. Wzo Nardos Deneke, my daughter, you always has a special place in my heart. Ato Tamirat and his family, I thank you for being with me. Last I thank all who helped me for I can't keep on listing names, but how can I forget evangelist Aregash and her regular prayers to me and my family. My brothers and sisters here in Ethiopia and in the USA and my mom Wzo Metsheit Tesfaye, I am glad being part of this family. Emebet, Yetnayet, Koka, Nina, Behailu and Etsegenet, I love you all. The way we care for one another is amazing. My research team who struggled with me to the very end (Wzo Everusalem, Sr Woineshet, Emebet, Wondimagen and Munira), I appreciate your help. Dr Yigermu Abebe, managing director of Bethel Hospital, thank you for what did and are doing to me and others.

13. REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. WHO case definitions of HIV for surveillance and revised clinical staging and immunological classification of HIV-related disease in adults and children: WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland, 2006.
- 2. Lawn SD, Kranzer K, Wood R (2009) Antiretroviral therapy for control of the HIVassociated tuberculosis epidemic in resource-limited settings. Clin Chest Med 30: 685-699.
- 3. Golub JE, Durovni B, King BS, Cavalacante SC, Pacheco AG, et al. (2008) Recurrent tuberculosis in HIV-infected patients in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. AIDS 22: 2527-2533.
- 4. World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2014. <u>http://www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/en/_(Accessed</u> on November 06,2015)
- 5. Holmes CB, Wood R, Badri M, Zilber S, Wang B, et al. (2006) CD4 decline and incidence of opportunistic infections in Cape Town, South Africa: implications for prophylaxis and treatment. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 42: 464-469.
- 6. Wood R, Maartens G, Lombard CJ (2000) Risk factors for developing tuberculosis in HIV-1-infected adults from communities with a low or very high incidence of tuberculosis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 23: 75-80.
- 7. Shafer RW, Bloch AB, Larkin C, Vasudavan V, Seligman S, et al. (1996) Predictors of survival in HIV-infected tuberculosis patients. AIDS 10: 269-272.
- 8. Corbett EL, Marston B, Churchyard GJ, De Cock KM (2006) Tuberculosis in sub-Saharan Africa: opportunities, challenges, and change in the era of antiretroviral treatment. Lancet 367: 926-937.
- 9. Mukadi YD, Maher D, Harries A (2001) Tuberculosis case fatality rates in high HIV prevalence populations in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS 15: 143-152.
- 10. Tamura M KK, Yuos BH (July 11-16,2004) High prevalence/incidence of TB and poor outcomes of TB treatment among people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. Presented at the XV International AIDS Conference, Bangkok, Thailand.
- 11. Mukadi YD, Wiktor SZ, Coulibaly IM, Coulibaly D, Mbengue A, et al. (1997) Impact of HIV infection on the development, clinical presentation, and outcome of tuberculosis among children in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. AIDS 11: 1151-1158.
- 12. Manosuthi W, Chottanapand S, Thongyen S, Chaovavanich A, Sungkanuparph S (2006) Survival rate and risk factors of mortality among HIV/tuberculosis-coinfected patients with and without antiretroviral therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 43: 42-46.
- 13. Lawn SD, Myer L, Orrell C, Bekker LG, Wood R (2005) Early mortality among adults accessing a community-based antiretroviral service in South Africa: implications for programme design. AIDS 19: 2141-2148.
- 14. Getahun H, Gunneberg C, Granich R, Nunn P (2010) HIV infection-associated tuberculosis: the epidemiology and the response. Clin Infect Dis 50 Suppl 3: S201-207.

- 15. Andrews JR, Noubary F, Walensky RP, Cerda R, Losina E, et al. (2012) Risk of progression to active tuberculosis following reinfection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Clin Infect Dis 54: 784-791.
- 16. Girardi E, Sabin CA, d'Arminio Monforte A, Hogg B, Phillips AN, et al. (2005) Incidence of Tuberculosis among HIV-infected patients receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy in Europe and North America. Clin Infect Dis 41: 1772-1782.
- 17. Antonucci G, Girardi E, Raviglione MC, Ippolito G (1995) Risk factors for tuberculosis in HIV-infected persons. A prospective cohort study. The Gruppo Italiano di Studio Tubercolosi e AIDS (GISTA). JAMA 274: 143-148.
- 18. Guelar A, Gatell JM, Verdejo J, Podzamczer D, Lozano L, et al. (1993) A prospective study of the risk of tuberculosis among HIV-infected patients. AIDS 7: 1345-1349.
- 19. Gupta RK, Lucas SB, Fielding KL, Lawn SD (2015) Prevalence of tuberculosis in post-mortem studies of HIV-infected adults and children in resource-limited settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS 29: 1987-2002.
- 20. Sonnenberg P, Glynn JR, Fielding K, Murray J, Godfrey-Faussett P, et al. (2005) How soon after infection with HIV does the risk of tuberculosis start to increase? A retrospective cohort study in South African gold miners. J Infect Dis 191: 150-158.
- 21. Geldmacher C, Schuetz A, Ngwenyama N, Casazza JP, Sanga E, et al. (2008) Early depletion of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-specific T helper 1 cell responses after HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 198: 1590-1598.
- 22. Malhotra U, Berrey MM, Huang Y, Markee J, Brown DJ, et al. (2000) Effect of combination antiretroviral therapy on T-cell immunity in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Infect Dis 181: 121-131.
- 23. Musey LK, Krieger JN, Hughes JP, Schacker TW, Corey L, et al. (1999) Early and persistent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T helper dysfunction in blood and lymph nodes following acute HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 180: 278-284.
- 24. Srikantiah P, Charlebois E, Havlir DV (2005) Rapid increase in tuberculosis incidence soon after infection with HIV--a new twist in the twin epidemics. J Infect Dis 191: 147-149.
- 25. Lahey T, Mackenzie T, Arbeit RD, Bakari M, Mtei L, et al. (2013) Recurrent tuberculosis risk among HIV-infected adults in Tanzania with prior active tuberculosis. Clin Infect Dis 56: 151-158.
- 26. Khan FA, Minion J, Pai M, Royce S, Burman W, et al. (2010) Treatment of active tuberculosis in HIV-coinfected patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis 50: 1288-1299.
- 27. Sonnenberg P, Murray J, Glynn JR, Shearer S, Kambashi B, et al. (2001) HIV-1 and recurrence, relapse, and reinfection of tuberculosis after cure: a cohort study in South African mineworkers. Lancet 358: 1687-1693.
- 28. Sterling TR, Alwood K, Gachuhi R, Coggin W, Blazes D, et al. (1999) Relapse rates after short-course (6-month) treatment of tuberculosis in HIV-infected and uninfected persons. AIDS 13: 1899-1904.

- 29. Lawn SD, Myer L, Bekker LG, Wood R (2006) Burden of tuberculosis in an antiretroviral treatment programme in sub-Saharan Africa: impact on treatment outcomes and implications for tuberculosis control. AIDS 20: 1605-1612.
- 30. Crampin AC, Mwaungulu JN, Mwaungulu FD, Mwafulirwa DT, Munthali K, et al. (2010) Recurrent TB: relapse or reinfection? The effect of HIV in a general population cohort in Malawi. AIDS 24: 417-426.
- 31. Vanham G, Edmonds K, Qing L, Hom D, Toossi Z, et al. (1996) Generalized immune activation in pulmonary tuberculosis: co-activation with HIV infection. Clin Exp Immunol 103: 30-34.
- 32. Lopez-Gatell H, Cole SR, Hessol NA, French AL, Greenblatt RM, et al. (2007) Effect of tuberculosis on the survival of women infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Am J Epidemiol 165: 1134-1142.
- 33. Badri M, Ehrlich R, Wood R, Pulerwitz T, Maartens G (2001) Association between tuberculosis and HIV disease progression in a high tuberculosis prevalence area. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 5: 225-232.
- 34. Toossi Z, Mayanja-Kizza H, Hirsch CS, Edmonds KL, Spahlinger T, et al. (2001) Impact of tuberculosis (TB) on HIV-1 activity in dually infected patients. Clin Exp Immunol 123: 233-238.
- Goletti D, Weissman D, Jackson RW, Graham NM, Vlahov D, et al. (1996) Effect of Mycobacterium tuberculosis on HIV replication. Role of immune activation. J Immunol 157: 1271-1278.
- 36. Wolday D, Hailu B, Girma M, Hailu E, Sanders E, et al. (2003) Low CD4+ T-cell count and high HIV viral load precede the development of tuberculosis disease in a cohort of HIV-positive ethiopians. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 7: 110-116.
- 37. Wolday D, Tegbaru B, Kassu A, Messele T, Coutinho R, et al. (2005) Expression of chemokine receptors CCR5 and CXCR4 on CD4+ T cells and plasma chemokine levels during treatment of active tuberculosis in HIV-1-coinfected patients. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 39: 265-271.
- 38. Lancioni CL, Mahan CS, Johnson DF, Walusimbi M, Chervenak KA, et al. (2011) Effects of antiretroviral therapy on immune function of HIV-infected adults with pulmonary tuberculosis and CD4+>350 cells/mm3. J Infect Dis 203: 992-1001.
- 39. Toor JS, Singh S, Sharma A, Arora SK (2014) Mycobacterium tuberculosis modulates the gene interactions to activate the HIV replication and faster disease progression in a co-infected host. PLoS One 9: e106815.
- 40. Jones JL, Hanson DL, Dworkin MS, DeCock KM (2000) HIV-associated tuberculosis in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. The Adult/Adolescent Spectrum of HIV Disease Group. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 4: 1026-1031.
- 41. Santoro-Lopes G, de Pinho AM, Harrison LH, Schechter M (2002) Reduced risk of tuberculosis among Brazilian patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection treated with highly active antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis 34: 543-546.
- 42. Badri M, Wilson D, Wood R (2002) Effect of highly active antiretroviral therapy on incidence of tuberculosis in South Africa: a cohort study. Lancet 359: 2059-2064.

- 43. Chaisson RE, Schecter GF, Theuer CP, Rutherford GW, Echenberg DF, et al. (1987) Tuberculosis in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Clinical features, response to therapy, and survival. Am Rev Respir Dis 136: 570-574.
- 44. Pablos-Mendez A, Sterling TR, Frieden TR (1996) The relationship between delayed or incomplete treatment and all-cause mortality in patients with tuberculosis. JAMA 276: 1223-1228.
- 45. French MA, Lenzo N, John M, Mallal SA, McKinnon EJ, et al. (2000) Immune restoration disease after the treatment of immunodeficient HIV-infected patients with highly active antiretroviral therapy. HIV Med 1: 107-115.
- 46. DeSimone JA, Pomerantz RJ, Babinchak TJ (2000) Inflammatory reactions in HIV-1infected persons after initiation of highly active antiretroviral therapy. Ann Intern Med 133: 447-454.
- 47. Meintjes G, Rabie H, Wilkinson RJ, Cotton MF (2009) Tuberculosis-associated immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome and unmasking of tuberculosis by antiretroviral therapy. Clin Chest Med 30: 797-810.
- 48. Zumla A, Raviglione M, Hafner R, von Reyn CF (2013) Tuberculosis. N Engl J Med 368: 745-755.
- 49. Keiper MD, Beumont M, Elshami A, Langlotz CP, Miller WT, Jr. (1995) CD4 T lymphocyte count and the radiographic presentation of pulmonary tuberculosis. A study of the relationship between these factors in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Chest 107: 74-80.
- 50. Geng E, Kreiswirth B, Burzynski J, Schluger NW (2005) Clinical and radiographic correlates of primary and reactivation tuberculosis: a molecular epidemiology study. JAMA 293: 2740-2745.
- 51. Greenberg SD, Frager D, Suster B, Walker S, Stavropoulos C, et al. (1994) Active pulmonary tuberculosis in patients with AIDS: spectrum of radiographic findings (including a normal appearance). Radiology 193: 115-119.
- 52. Barnes PF, Bloch AB, Davidson PT, Snider DE, Jr. (1991) Tuberculosis in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. N Engl J Med 324: 1644-1650.
- 53. Rupali P, Abraham OC, Zachariah A, Subramanian S, Mathai D (2003) Aetiology of prolonged fever in antiretroviral-naive human immunodeficiency virus-infected adults. Natl Med J India 16: 193-199.
- 54. Havlir DV, Barnes PF (1999) Tuberculosis in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. N Engl J Med 340: 367-373.
- 55. Post FA, Wood R, Pillay GP (1995) Pulmonary tuberculosis in HIV infection: radiographic appearance is related to CD4+ T-lymphocyte count. Tuber Lung Dis 76: 518-521.
- 56. Daley CL, Small PM, Schecter GF, Schoolnik GK, McAdam RA, et al. (1992) An outbreak of tuberculosis with accelerated progression among persons infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. An analysis using restriction-fragment-length polymorphisms. N Engl J Med 326: 231-235.

- 57. Corbett EL, Charalambous S, Moloi VM, Fielding K, Grant AD, et al. (2004) Human immunodeficiency virus and the prevalence of undiagnosed tuberculosis in African gold miners. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 170: 673-679.
- 58. Getahun H, Harrington M, O'Brien R, Nunn P (2007) Diagnosis of smear-negative pulmonary tuberculosis in people with HIV infection or AIDS in resource-constrained settings: informing urgent policy changes. Lancet 369: 2042-2049.
- 59. Lawn SD, Zumla AI (2011) Tuberculosis. Lancet 378: 57-72.
- 60. Mtei L, Matee M, Herfort O, Bakari M, Horsburgh CR, et al. (2005) High rates of clinical and subclinical tuberculosis among HIV-infected ambulatory subjects in Tanzania. Clin Infect Dis 40: 1500-1507.
- 61. Cain KP, McCarthy KD, Heilig CM, Monkongdee P, Tasaneeyapan T, et al. (2010) An algorithm for tuberculosis screening and diagnosis in people with HIV. N Engl J Med 362: 707-716.
- 62. Sterling TR, Pham PA, Chaisson RE (2010) HIV infection-related tuberculosis: clinical manifestations and treatment. Clin Infect Dis 50 Suppl 3: S223-230.
- 63. Rangaka MX, Wilkinson RJ, Glynn JR, Boulle A, van Cutsem G, et al. (2012) Effect of antiretroviral therapy on the diagnostic accuracy of symptom screening for intensified tuberculosis case finding in a South African HIV clinic. Clin Infect Dis 55: 1698-1706.
- 64. Jones BE, Young SM, Antoniskis D, Davidson PT, Kramer F, et al. (1993) Relationship of the manifestations of tuberculosis to CD4 cell counts in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Am Rev Respir Dis 148: 1292-1297.
- 65. Yang Z, Kong Y, Wilson F, Foxman B, Fowler AH, et al. (2004) Identification of risk factors for extrapulmonary tuberculosis. Clin Infect Dis 38: 199-205.
- 66. Leeds IL, Magee MJ, Kurbatova EV, del Rio C, Blumberg HM, et al. (2012) Site of extrapulmonary tuberculosis is associated with HIV infection. Clin Infect Dis 55: 75-81.
- 67. Naing C, Mak JW, Maung M, Wong SF, Kassim AI (2013) Meta-analysis: the association between HIV infection and extrapulmonary tuberculosis. Lung 191: 27-34.
- 68. Shafer RW, Kim DS, Weiss JP, Quale JM (1991) Extrapulmonary tuberculosis in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Medicine (Baltimore) 70: 384-397.
- 69. Hudson CP, Wood R, Maartens G (2000) Diagnosing HIV-associated tuberculosis: reducing costs and diagnostic delay. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 4: 240-245.
- 70. Frye MD, Pozsik CJ, Sahn SA (1997) Tuberculous pleurisy is more common in AIDS than in non-AIDS patients with tuberculosis. Chest 112: 393-397.
- 71. Ansari NA, Kombe AH, Kenyon TA, Hone NM, Tappero JW, et al. (2002) Pathology and causes of death in a group of 128 predominantly HIV-positive patients in Botswana, 1997-1998. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 6: 55-63.

- 72. von Reyn CF, Kimambo S, Mtei L, Arbeit RD, Maro I, et al. (2011) Disseminated tuberculosis in human immunodeficiency virus infection: ineffective immunity, polyclonal disease and high mortality. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 15: 1087-1092.
- 73. Havlir DV, Getahun H, Sanne I, Nunn P (2008) Opportunities and challenges for HIV care in overlapping HIV and TB epidemics. JAMA 300: 423-430.
- 74. Swaminathan S, Padmapriyadarsini C, Narendran G (2010) HIV-associated tuberculosis: clinical update. Clin Infect Dis 50: 1377-1386.
- 75. Murray J, Sonnenberg P, Shearer SC, Godfrey-Faussett P (1999) Human immunodeficiency virus and the outcome of treatment for new and recurrent pulmonary tuberculosis in African patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159: 733-740.
- 76. Blumberg HM, Burman WJ, Chaisson RE, Daley CL, Etkind SC, et al. (2003) American Thoracic Society/Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Infectious Diseases Society of America: treatment of tuberculosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167: 603-662.
- 77. Abdool Karim SS, Naidoo K, Grobler A, Padayatchi N, Baxter C, et al. (2010) Timing of initiation of antiretroviral drugs during tuberculosis therapy. N Engl J Med 362: 697-706.
- 78. Ackah AN, Coulibaly D, Digbeu H, Diallo K, Vetter KM, et al. (1995) Response to treatment, mortality, and CD4 lymphocyte counts in HIV-infected persons with tuberculosis in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. Lancet 345: 607-610.
- 79. Elliott AM, Halwiindi B, Hayes RJ, Luo N, Mwinga AG, et al. (1995) The impact of human immunodeficiency virus on mortality of patients treated for tuberculosis in a cohort study in Zambia. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 89: 78-82.
- 80. Harries AD, Zachariah R, Lawn SD (2009) Providing HIV care for co-infected tuberculosis patients: a perspective from sub-Saharan Africa. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 13: 6-16.
- 81. Panel on Opportunistic Infections in HIV-Infected Adults and Adolescents. Guidelines for the prevention and treatment of opportunistic infections in HIV-infected adults and adolescents: Recommendations from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the National Institutes of Health, and the HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/contentfiles/Ivguidelines/adult_oi.pdf

(Accessed on November 6,2015)

- 82. World Health Organization.Treatment of tuberculosis:guidelines-4th ed. Geneva, 2009 WHO/HTM/TB/2009.420.
- 83. Kassim S, Sassan-Morokro M, Ackah A, Abouya LY, Digbeu H, et al. (1995) Twoyear follow-up of persons with HIV-1- and HIV-2-associated pulmonary tuberculosis treated with short-course chemotherapy in West Africa. AIDS 9: 1185-1191.
- 84. Connolly C, Reid A, Davies G, Sturm W, McAdam KP, et al. (1999) Relapse and mortality among HIV-infected and uninfected patients with tuberculosis successfully treated with twice weekly directly observed therapy in rural South Africa. AIDS 13: 1543-1547.

- 85. El-Sadr WM, Perlman DC, Matts JP, Nelson ET, Cohn DL, et al. (1998) Evaluation of an intensive intermittent-induction regimen and duration of short-course treatment for human immunodeficiency virus-related pulmonary tuberculosis. Terry Beirn Community Programs for Clinical Research on AIDS (CPCRA) and the AIDS Clinical Trials Group (ACTG). Clin Infect Dis 26: 1148-1158.
- 86. Ahmad Khan F, Minion J, Al-Motairi A, Benedetti A, Harries AD, et al. (2012) An updated systematic review and meta-analysis on the treatment of active tuberculosis in patients with HIV infection. Clin Infect Dis 55: 1154-1163.
- 87. Whalen C, Okwera A, Johnson J, Vjecha M, Hom D, et al. (1996) Predictors of survival in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. The Makerere University-Case Western Reserve University Research Collaboration. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153: 1977-1981.
- 88. Palella FJ, Jr., Delaney KM, Moorman AC, Loveless MO, Fuhrer J, et al. (1998) Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection. HIV Outpatient Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 338: 853-860.
- 89. Mocroft A, Ledergerber B, Katlama C, Kirk O, Reiss P, et al. (2003) Decline in the AIDS and death rates in the EuroSIDA study: an observational study. Lancet 362: 22-29.
- 90. Leonard MK, Larsen N, Drechsler H, Blumberg H, Lennox JL, et al. (2002) Increased survival of persons with tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus infection, 1991--2000. Clin Infect Dis 34: 1002-1007.
- 91. Dean GL, Edwards SG, Ives NJ, Matthews G, Fox EF, et al. (2002) Treatment of tuberculosis in HIV-infected persons in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. AIDS 16: 75-83.
- 92. Hung CC, Chen MY, Hsiao CF, Hsieh SM, Sheng WH, et al. (2003) Improved outcomes of HIV-1-infected adults with tuberculosis in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. AIDS 17: 2615-2622.
- 93. Uthman OA, Okwundu C, Gbenga K, Volmink J, Dowdy D, et al. (2015) Optimal Timing of Antiretroviral Therapy Initiation for HIV-Infected Adults With Newly Diagnosed Pulmonary Tuberculosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 163: 32-39.
- 94. Ungo JR, Jones D, Ashkin D, Hollender ES, Bernstein D, et al. (1998) Antituberculosis drug-induced hepatotoxicity. The role of hepatitis C virus and the human immunodeficiency virus. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157: 1871-1876.
- 95. Breen RA, Miller RF, Gorsuch T, Smith CJ, Schwenk A, et al. (2006) Adverse events and treatment interruption in tuberculosis patients with and without HIV co-infection. Thorax 61: 791-794.
- 96. Sulkowski MS, Thomas DL, Mehta SH, Chaisson RE, Moore RD (2002) Hepatotoxicity associated with nevirapine or efavirenz-containing antiretroviral therapy: role of hepatitis C and B infections. Hepatology 35: 182-189.
- 97. Martin-Carbonero L, Nunez M, Gonzalez-Lahoz J, Soriano V (2003) Incidence of liver injury after beginning antiretroviral therapy with efavirenz or nevirapine. HIV Clin Trials 4: 115-120.

- 98. Mukonzo JK, Roshammar D, Waako P, Andersson M, Fukasawa T, et al. (2009) A novel polymorphism in ABCB1 gene, CYP2B6*6 and sex predict single-dose efavirenz population pharmacokinetics in Ugandans. Br J Clin Pharmacol 68: 690-699.
- 99. Kopanoff DE, Snider DE, Jr., Caras GJ (1978) Isoniazid-related hepatitis: a U.S. Public Health Service cooperative surveillance study. Am Rev Respir Dis 117: 991-1001.
- 100. Franks AL, Binkin NJ, Snider DE, Jr., Rokaw WM, Becker S (1989) Isoniazid hepatitis among pregnant and postpartum Hispanic patients. Public Health Rep 104: 151-155.
- 101. Durand F, Bernuau J, Pessayre D, Samuel D, Belaiche J, et al. (1995) Deleterious influence of pyrazinamide on the outcome of patients with fulminant or subfulminant liver failure during antituberculous treatment including isoniazid. Hepatology 21: 929-932.
- 102. Schaberg T, Rebhan K, Lode H (1996) Risk factors for side-effects of isoniazid, rifampin and pyrazinamide in patients hospitalized for pulmonary tuberculosis. Eur Respir J 9: 2026-2030.
- 103. Saukkonen JJ, Cohn DL, Jasmer RM, Schenker S, Jereb JA, et al. (2006) An official ATS statement: hepatotoxicity of antituberculosis therapy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174: 935-952.
- 104. Walker NF, Kliner M, Turner D, Bhagani S, Cropley I, et al. (2009) Hepatotoxicity and antituberculosis therapy: time to revise UK guidance? Thorax 64: 918.
- 105. Habtewold A, Amogne W, Makonnen E, Yimer G, Nylen H, et al. (2013) Pharmacogenetic and pharmacokinetic aspects of CYP3A induction by efavirenz in HIV patients. Pharmacogenomics J 13: 484-489.
- 106. Kassahun K, McIntosh I, Cui D, Hreniuk D, Merschman S, et al. (2007) Metabolism and disposition in humans of raltegravir (MK-0518), an anti-AIDS drug targeting the human immunodeficiency virus 1 integrase enzyme. Drug Metab Dispos 35: 1657-1663.
- 107. Liu P, Foster G, Gandelman K, LaBadie RR, Allison MJ, et al. (2007) Steady-state pharmacokinetic and safety profiles of voriconazole and ritonavir in healthy male subjects. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 51: 3617-3626.
- 108. Habtewold A, Makonnen E, Amogne W, Yimer G, Aderaye G, et al. (2015) Is there a need to increase the dose of efavirenz during concomitant rifampicin-based antituberculosis therapy in sub-Saharan Africa? The HIV-TB pharmagene study. Pharmacogenomics 16: 1047-1064.
- 109. John G Bartlet (2013). Medical Management of HIV Infection. International Edition. Published by Knowledge Source Solutions,LLC. pp 525-530.
- 110. Meintjes G, Lawn SD, Scano F, Maartens G, French MA, et al. (2008) Tuberculosisassociated immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome: case definitions for use in resource-limited settings. Lancet Infect Dis 8: 516-523.

- 111. Nyamweya S, Hegedus A, Jaye A, Rowland-Jones S, Flanagan KL, et al. (2013) Comparing HIV-1 and HIV-2 infection: Lessons for viral immunopathogenesis. Rev Med Virol 23: 221-240.
- 112. Robertson DL, Anderson JP, Bradac JA, Carr JK, Foley B, et al. (2000) HIV-1 nomenclature proposal. Science 288: 55-56.
- 113. Korber B, Gaschen B, Yusim K, Thakallapally R, Kesmir C, et al. (2001) Evolutionary and immunological implications of contemporary HIV-1 variation. Br Med Bull 58: 19-42.
- 114. Janssens W, Buve A, Nkengasong JN (1997) The puzzle of HIV-1 subtypes in Africa. AIDS 11: 705-712.
- 115. Ayehunie S, Johansson B, Sonnerborg A, Salminen M, Zewdie DW, et al. (1990) New subtype of HIV-1 in Ethiopia. Lancet 336: 942.
- 116. Hemelaar J, Gouws E, Ghys PD, Osmanov S (2006) Global and regional distribution of HIV-1 genetic subtypes and recombinants in 2004. AIDS 20: W13-23.
- 117. Hemelaar J, Gouws E, Ghys PD, Osmanov S (2011) Global trends in molecular epidemiology of HIV-1 during 2000-2007. AIDS 25: 679-689.
- 118. De Baar MP, Abebe A, Kliphuis A, Tesfaye G, Goudsmit J, et al. (2003) HIV type 1 C and C' subclusters based on long terminal repeat sequences in the Ethiopian type 1 subtype C epidemic. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 19: 917-922.
- 119. Thomson MM, Fernandez-Garcia A (2011) Phylogenetic structure in African HIV-1 subtype C revealed by selective sequential pruning. Virology 415: 30-38.
- 120. Ayele W, Mekonnen Y, Messele T, Mengistu Y, Tsegaye A, et al. (2010) Differences in HIV type 1 RNA plasma load profile of closely related cocirculating Ethiopian subtype C strains: C and C'. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 26: 805-813.